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          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to today's oversight hearing on the Hudson

          4  Yards project, and the recent MTA agreement.  This

          5  will be a joint hearing of the Committee on Finance,

          6  which I Chair, along with the Committee on

          7  Transportation, Chaired by Chair John Liu, on my

          8  right; and the Committee on Economic Development,

          9  Chaired by Thomas White, Jr. on my left.  My name is

         10  David Weprin.  I Chair the Finance Committee.

         11                 The recent agreement between the MTA

         12  and the City for the Western Rail Yards area is of

         13  enormous importance to our City.  Without the

         14  ability to control development of the Western Rail

         15  Yards and the projects that will receive

         16  transferrable development rights from the Eastern

         17  Rail Yards, it is doubtful that the Hudson Yards

         18  could be developed as we envisioned when we rezoned

         19  the areas east of 11th Avenue and approved the

         20  Hudson Yard's financing plan last January.  I

         21  believe that developing this area, attracting

         22  commercial and additional residential development,

         23  and providing the additional affordable housing we

         24  negotiated last year, will benefit our entire City.

         25                 Last January, the Council rezoned and
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          2  approved a financing plan for the Hudson Yards

          3  Redevelopment Area, the area east of 11th Avenue,

          4  and generally, between 30th Street on the south, and

          5  42nd Street on the north.  We believe that the best

          6  way to ensure development of this valuable area

          7  adjacent to Midtown was to extend the Number Seven

          8  Line west, to provide accessible public

          9  transportation.  And undertake additional

         10  infrastructure improvements such as new streets and

         11  parks.  Payments in lieu of taxes from this area,

         12  and payment made by developers for density bonuses

         13  are to be paid to the Hudson Yards Infrastructure

         14  Corporation, to finance the infrastructure

         15  improvements.

         16                 I believe it will be very difficult

         17  to accomplish the goals we have already set forth

         18  unless we coordinate the development of the area

         19  west of 11th Avenue with our planned development

         20  east of 11th Avenue.  The deal which we are

         21  discussing today will provide the City with the two

         22  key elements necessary to coordinate the development

         23  of the two portions of the Hudson Yards which should

         24  really be viewed as one area for development

         25  purposes.
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          2                 First, it will give the City control,

          3  with the MTA, over development on both the portion

          4  of the Rail Yard east of 11th Avenue, and the

          5  portion west of 11th Avenue.  Most importantly, it

          6  will subject the development of the western Rail

          7  Yard to the City's Uniform Land Use Review

          8  procedure.  And second, it will ensure that the

          9  development west of 11th Avenue, which will benefit

         10  equally from the extension of the Number Seven Line,

         11  and the other infrastructure improvements, will

         12  contribute to the financing of these improvements.

         13  This is essential to further the plan we have

         14  already undertaken.

         15                 To give an analogy, no one would

         16  build a subway line and tell passengers who get on

         17  at one end of the line that they had to pay a fare,

         18  but let passengers who get on at the other end a

         19  ride for free.  Well, if we don't expand the

         20  financing area, we will be telling developers in the

         21  Western Rail Yards that they don't have to

         22  contribute to the new Number Seven Line that

         23  services their project, because the developers

         24  across the streets are already footing the bill.

         25  This plan won't work if we give some developers a
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          2  free ride.

          3                 Let me introduce the Members that are

          4  here.  In addition to my Co- Chairs, we have Council

          5  Member Miguel Martinez, from Manhattan; Council

          6  Member Dennis Gallagher, from Queens; Council Member

          7  Andrew Lanza, from Staten Island; Council Member

          8  David Yassky, from Brooklyn; Council Member Peter

          9  Vallone, Jr., from Queens; Council Member Oliver

         10  Koppell, from the Bronx; and Council Member Helen

         11  Sears, from Queens.  I'm now going to turn it over

         12  to my Co- Chairs.  First, Chair Liu, for a

         13  statement.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         15  Mr. Chairman, and for leading this important

         16  hearing.  I want to thank the Deputy Mayor and his

         17  staff for joining us this morning.  Just to

         18  reiterate what I think you've touched upon already,

         19  Mr. Chairman.  The idea that we're looking at here,

         20  the extension of the Seven Train, in order to help

         21  further the development of the Westside Yards, it

         22  truly is the first expansion of the subway system in

         23  a very, very long time.  And so just from that

         24  aspect alone, it's worth careful consideration.  And

         25  I think we're all here to hear directly from the
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          2  Deputy Mayor about how that kind of  --  how

          3  building that subway will actually help spur the

          4  economic growth that will then pay for the subway

          5  expansion itself.

          6                 And we certainly hope that this is

          7  not a pipe dream in the making, but something that

          8  can actually be achieved. Something that is

          9  realistic.  And it is my hope that if this is  -- if

         10  and when this is realistic and achieved, that we can

         11  look at other parts of the City where we might also

         12  finance expansions of the mass transit system in a

         13  way that spurs growth, creates new jobs, that will

         14  then pay for those projects themselves.

         15                 I think what we're trying to here

         16  with the Westside Yards is a model that should

         17  certainly not be the last go- around that we try it,

         18  but it should be a model for the use in other parts

         19  of the City.

         20                 And as far as some of the people over

         21  the last few months who have talked about whether

         22  the City is paying a fair price for the MTA

         23  property, it is my opinion, I believe that that is

         24  shared by many of our colleagues here, that when a

         25  property owner   --  that a property owner, whether
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          2  it be the MTA or other private property owner, that

          3  property owner is entitled to the value of their

          4  property today.  Any instantaneous increase in the

          5  property value due to a change in New York City law,

          6  in my opinion, belongs to the people of the City of

          7  New York.  And so given that arrangement, I think

          8  that what a fair price for the City to pay for that

          9  property is what its value is at today.  Not what

         10  it's speculated to be valued at later on, or not

         11  what it will actually be valued at later on, if the

         12  City changed its zoning.  And I think that's a

         13  discussion that will certainly increase in the

         14  coming weeks, until we resolve this situation.  And

         15  I think that this is a very good thing that we're

         16  going through right now, in fleshing out all of the

         17  issues out in the open.

         18                 So thank you for joining us, and

         19  thank you Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you

         21  Chairman Liu.  We've also been joined by our Deputy

         22  Majority Leader, Council Member Leroy Comrie, from

         23  Queens.  And behind me I omitted Minority Leader,

         24  Councilman Jim Oddo, from Staten Island.  And we've

         25  also been joined by Council Member Alan Gerson, from
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          2  Manhattan.

          3                 I'll now call upon Chair White, of

          4  the Economic Development Committee.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

          6  much Mr. Chairman. I would just like to echo the

          7  statements that was previously made by yourself and

          8  the Chair of Transportation, Council Member Liu. And

          9  I really welcome the joint hearing, in particular,

         10  because it shows a unified direction that we're

         11  going in, that touches all of the various Committees

         12  that it has to go through.  And this will help

         13  expedite a better understanding and we'll have

         14  forward movement going towards this project.

         15                 So with that, I would like to you

         16  know, not waste the time of my other colleagues.

         17  And I would just welcome this meeting, and I'm

         18  awaiting the statements from the Deputy Mayor,

         19  Doctoroff and his staff.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  And

         21  we've also been joined by Council Member Leticia

         22  James, from Brooklyn.

         23                 Deputy Mayor.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And you could

          3  also introduce the Budget Director.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I was going

          5  to do that, who is most definitely not a member of

          6  my staff.  I'm joined here by Mark Page, who is our

          7  Budget Director.  As well as staff from OMB, the Law

          8  Department, and the Hudson Yards Development

          9  Corporation, which, for the purposes of shortening

         10  the time, we'll refer to from now on as HYDC.  I'm,

         11  as you know, Deputy Director Dan Doctoroff. And what

         12  I'll do is I'll make a relatively brief statement,

         13  and then we will be happy to take your questions.

         14                 I'm not just pleased to testify here

         15  today, but I'm also proud to testify before you this

         16  morning, in favor of the proposed Council actions in

         17  support of the Hudson Yards plan.  I'm proud because

         18  together  --  and I underscore that  --  the

         19  Administration and the Council are taking one more

         20  step, a critical step, towards putting to rest the

         21  notion that you can't get big things done in New

         22  York City.

         23                 Eighteen months ago, the Council

         24  overwhelmingly approved the plan to transform the

         25  Far West Side of Midtown Manhattan.  The plan
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          2  includes a massive rezoning to accommodate

          3  commercial and residential development.  About forty

          4  million square feet in total, over up to 30 years.

          5  In doing so, the Council recognized that we're a

          6  growing City.  And that growth is not only

          7  desirable, but it's necessary.  If we are going to

          8  continue to create jobs and generate tax revenues to

          9  pay for much needed City services.

         10                 The job of government is to create

         11  the conditions for growth, so that the private

         12  market can do what it does best, invest and build.

         13  The rezoning you approved is now in effect, but

         14  government's job is not done yet.  Because we know

         15  that before private development can go forward,

         16  government must also invest to provide a sense of

         17  place with new streets and open space, and

         18  especially to provide access.

         19                 That's why the Number Seven subway

         20  extension is so important.  It's the first expansion

         21  of the subway system in nearly three decades.  And

         22  some day, it will carry thousands and thousands of

         23  people to and from their jobs, their homes, and even

         24  the expanded Javits Convention Center.  And we, the

         25  City, will pay $2 billion for that expansion, with a
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          2  portion of the new revenues that will result from

          3  development in the Hudson Yards.

          4                 Last weeks' agreement between the

          5  City and the MTA makes that expansion possible.  The

          6  agreement assures that the City and the local

          7  develop corporations we have created will receive

          8  all of the payments in lieu of property taxes from

          9  development in the Hudson Yards, including on the

         10  Western Rail Yards.  It establishes a firm and fast

         11  planning process for the Western Rail Yards.  The

         12  process will begin with an inclusive, City- led

         13  effort to develop guidelines for development for the

         14  site.  And then, after an MTA led RFP, pursuant to,

         15  and agreed- upon schedule, the process will end with

         16  a vote by this Council pursuant to ULURP.

         17                 The agreement also allows the City,

         18  through the Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation,

         19  or HYIC, to purchase 50 percent of the transferable

         20  air rights generated by the Eastern Rail Yards.  The

         21  City will manage the sale of all of the air rights,

         22  which will afford us more control over the space of

         23  development.  Every single clause in this agreement

         24  was carefully negotiated and written with the close

         25  involvement of City Council staff.  But for it to
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          2  work, we need your help.  I know you've been briefed

          3  extensively on the requested actions, but let me

          4  review them briefly.

          5                 Eighteen months ago, when the Council

          6  approved the Hudson Yards rezoning, it also approved

          7  a financing plan through Resolution 760.  It

          8  authorized the HYIC to issue $3 billion of debt to

          9  fund infrastructure improvements, including the

         10  Number Seven Line.  It also authorized various forms

         11  of City support for HYIC's bond issuance.  We are

         12  now asking for some technical changes to Resolution

         13  760, to reflect the new agreement.  This includes

         14  refinements to the project elements being funded by

         15  HYIC.  For example, we no longer need funding to pay

         16  for a platform over the Eastern Rail Yards.  But we

         17  do need authorization to purchase the air rights and

         18  to engage in planning for the Western Rail Yards.

         19                 We also need to make some changes to

         20  the boundaries to the Hudson Yard's Financing

         21  District, including adding the Western Rail Yards.

         22  These changes may be technical, but they're also

         23  critically important.  This arrangement is the

         24  result of literally years of work, and an especially

         25  intense effort in the last few months.  It simply
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          2  would not have been possible without the efforts of

          3  a terrific partnership with the Council.  I want to

          4  thank especially Speaker Quinn for her leadership,

          5  and the contributions of her staff and that of the

          6  Finance and Land Use Committees.  I also want to

          7  thank Chairman Kalikow, Katie Lapp, and the staff of

          8  the MTA for working with us to finalize this deal.

          9  And of course, all of the staff at the City

         10  agencies, many of whom are here today, who have

         11  worked so hard and for so long.  I am so grateful to

         12  them.

         13                 But all of that hard work is going to

         14  pay off. During the debate over the Hudson Yards

         15  rezoning, some people asked why we were laying the

         16  groundwork for 24 million square feet of office

         17  space, when there was double- digit commercial

         18  office vacancies, and new space coming online at the

         19  World Trade Center site.  We responded that you

         20  can't time the market.  You have to be prepared for

         21  the next upturn, so that growth happens here, not

         22  across the Hudson River, or not across the ocean in

         23  London.  But you know, it turns out our timing

         24  actually turned out to be pretty good.  Amazing, in

         25  fact.  All of you have seen the headlines about how
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          2  commercial vacancy rates are plummeting, while rents

          3  are rising.  We need all the space we can get.  In

          4  the Hudson Yards, Lower Manhattan, Downtown

          5  Brooklyn, Long Island City, Jamaica, and Flushing.

          6  If we are to provide the amount of space, and the

          7  range of products, office product, to lure large

          8  employers and keep them. That debate is over.  It's

          9  time to get to work. Tomorrow I hope and expect the

         10  Council will approve the requested actions.

         11  Assuming it does, tomorrow the boards of HYDC and

         12  HYIC will approve the new arrangement with the MTA.

         13  On October 23rd, the MTA will advertise the first

         14  contract for the construction of the Number Seven

         15  Line.  In early November, we will make our case to

         16  the rating agencies for the issuance for the bonds.

         17  And early next year, very early next year, you'll

         18  see a tunnel boring machine enter the ground, and

         19  begin working, virtually nonstop, to unleash the

         20  potential of the Hudson Yards.

         21                 Again, I want to congratulate and

         22  thank all of you, and especially Speaker Quinn for

         23  your help in making this possible.

         24                 We're happy to answer any questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Deputy

                                                            17

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  Mayor.  Budget Director Page, would you like to make

          3  a statement?

          4                 MR. PAGE: I think that the Deputy

          5  Mayor has pretty well said it for us, and I look

          6  forward to your questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.

          8                 Mr. Doctoroff, the route of the

          9  Number Seven Line extension, as it is currently

         10  planned, will run in part, underneath seven off-

         11  Broadway theaters, which extend from 42nd Street to

         12  41st Street, between Ninth and Dyer Avenue,

         13  including Playwrights Horizons, the Little Schubert

         14  Theater, and five theaters which comprise the

         15  Theater Row complex.  Several of these theaters, as

         16  you probably are aware, six of which are not- for-

         17  profit, have recently been built with significant

         18  capital funding from the City and State.  The

         19  theater community has contacted me, and I'm sure

         20  they've contacted others, and they're very concerned

         21  that the route of the Number Seven extension, during

         22  construction in particular, and its operation once

         23  it is built, could bring noise and vibrations that

         24  would significantly disrupt the operation of these

         25  seven important theaters.  There is also concern
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          2  about vibration from the subway line causing

          3  potentially permanent damage to the theater over

          4  time.

          5                 Have you looked into that at all?

          6  Had any discussions with the MTA as to how that

          7  might effect those theaters in question?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes, we have.

          9    And ever precaution will be taken to ensure that

         10  for any activities, but especially the theaters

         11  along the route, above the route, that very little,

         12  if any  --  there will be very little, if any

         13  effect.  One thing you should be aware is that just

         14  by nature of the design and engineering, the

         15  tunneling will be very far underground by the time

         16  it reaches the Western Rail Yard.  I believe it was

         17  70 feet underground.  So we don't expect there to be

         18  problems.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, but you're

         20  prepared to work with them to make sure that doesn't

         21  happen.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Absolutely.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Concern

         24  has also been expressed that cost overruns on the

         25  Number Seven subway line could potentially weaken
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          2  MTA financing, and perhaps make it more difficult

          3  for the MTA to finance other needed projects.  What

          4  is the MTA's exposure to cost overruns?  What has

          5  been done to ensure that construction cost estimates

          6  for the Number Seven Line are realistic?  And what

          7  is being done to keep these costs under control?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: The first

          9  thing that's been done is, unlike most other major

         10  infrastructure projects in New York City, we have

         11  already completed design and a significant

         12  percentage of the engineering.  And therefore, the

         13  ability to accurately estimate costs is much greater

         14  than in a typical infrastructure project.

         15                 With respect to cost overruns, in the

         16  estimate that we have made, we have significant

         17  contingencies built in.  In fact, we have agreed

         18  with the MTA to provide up to $2.1 billion worth of

         19  financing to the extent that the cost rises above

         20  the $2 billion estimate.  That $2 billion estimate,

         21  in and of itself has contingencies in it.  I believe

         22  roughly $150 million or so.

         23                 The other thing that you should be

         24  aware of is that that $2.1 billion does not include

         25  the costs of condemnation.  HYIC is taking the risk,
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          2  in terms of the cost of condemnation.  We have built

          3  it into HYIC's budget.  And therefore, when you look

          4  at the expenses where they're could be greater risk,

          5  we think we have actually adequately addressed them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  We've been

          7  joined by our Speaker, Christine Quinn.  Speaker

          8  Quinn, would you like to ask any questions?  Or make

          9  a statement?

         10                 SPEAKER QUINN: Sure.  I don't have

         11  any questions to ask, but I want to thank our OMB

         12  Director and Deputy Mayor for being with us here

         13  today.  And for their ongoing obsession with my

         14  district.  No, I'm only kidding.  Their ongoing work

         15  to move the West Side  --  issues relating to the

         16  West Side of Manhattan forward.  We discussed  --

         17  have discussed this matter a little bit recently in

         18  our Democratic Caucus, but he Council today needs to

         19  take some actions relating to the Hudson Yards area.

         20    The part of my district where there had been a

         21  small football stadium proposed at one time.  And as

         22  all of my colleagues remember, about a year and a

         23  half ago, we rezoned, with the help of Community

         24  Board Four --  and I'm so glad to see their

         25  leadership here today  --  we rezoned the area to
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          2  the east.  And I think it was in some ways, a

          3  historic rezoning for the City.  It was a plan and

          4  an effort where you really had government, the

          5  Council, the Administration, the community,

          6  Community Board and business interests, all working

          7  together to come up with a balanced rezoning plan

          8  that allowed business and commercial needs to

          9  expand, but also created, at that point, the most

         10  affordable housing we'd ever been able to create

         11  through a zoning.  We surpassed that now, and that's

         12  a good thing.

         13                 Unfortunately, in my opinion, the

         14  development that we hoped would occur there hasn't

         15  happened as quickly as we would have liked.  I think

         16  in part, because the area to the west is now in

         17  question, because the stadium is not moving through.

         18    It's very important that we begin the development

         19  on that area as well.

         20                 I believe, and the Mayor Bloomberg

         21  Administration agree that the City should be the

         22  entity that plans that development.  When the City

         23  does that planning, you actually have the

         24  opportunity, like we had in Hudson Yards to have the

         25  Mayor's Office, the Council, the community board,
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          2  the community business and all of the stakeholders

          3  at the table.

          4                 So after months of discussion and

          5  brainstorming and problem solving, I think we came

          6  up with a perfect solution to this issue, with the

          7  proposal that the MTA Board voted on a week or two

          8  ago mow.  That action by the MTA Board necessitates

          9  some technical actions on the part of the Council,

         10  as it relates to the Hudson Yard Development Corp

         11  boundaries, the Hudson Yard Infrastructure

         12  Corporation boundaries, and I would urge my

         13  colleagues to, after today's hearing, I believe the

         14  vote is tomorrow, vote in support of these changes.

         15  They will allow us to begin planning for the

         16  development and redevelopment of this area in a way

         17  that will benefit, not only my district, but the

         18  entire City, and really help move the development of

         19  the West Side forward in a way that will be

         20  productive for everyone.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Speaker

         22  Quinn.

         23                 Mr. Doctoroff, have there  --  can

         24  you give us an update on the Second Avenue Subway?

         25  And how the Number Seven train will potentially
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          2  affect you know, that planned construction and

          3  financing?

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: The Second

          5  Avenue Subway is moving ahead, more or less on

          6  schedule.  I don't know whether construction is

          7  actually expected to begin next year, or early 2008.

          8    Mark, you're a member of the Board of the MTA.

          9  You want to comment on that?

         10                 MR. PAGE: I think that the short

         11  answer here is that the Number Seven work is being

         12  financed through the structure that we're creating

         13  here, the Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation,

         14  the zoning and pilot support.  And that that is a

         15  separate, distinct, and independent project, as far

         16  as the MTA is concerned, from the Second Avenue

         17  Subway, which is being financed as a part of the

         18  MTA's own capital plan, and the resources that it's

         19  identified for that particular project.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: First of all,

         21  let me just clarify, the MTA is going to issue the

         22  first RFP for a portion of the tunnel before the end

         23  of the year.  So it's just a few months behind the

         24  Number Seven Line.  The key point that the Budget

         25  Director was making is that the way in which we have
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          2  financed the Number Seven Line ensures that no

          3  matter what happens with the Second Avenue Subway,

          4  and we're very supportive of it, we're happy that

          5  it's moving forward, but no matter what happens with

          6  the Second Avenue Subway, the Number Seven Line will

          7  move forward.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  So there's

          9  no reason to believe there would be any disruption

         10  at all to the time.

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I believe

         13  there's also a second subway planned at Tenth Avenue

         14  and 41st Street.  Is that correct?

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes.

         16  Eventually, there will be a second stop at 41st and

         17  Tenth, as part of phase one, which is what we'll

         18  begin right away.  We will build the cavern, if you

         19  will, this infrastructure for the station, but it

         20  won't be fit out until we have additional resources.

         21

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And that will be

         23  along the same financing mechanism as the Number

         24  Seven?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think we'll
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          2  have to determine, at some point in the future, how

          3  in fact, that will be financed.  I'm sure it will

          4  depend upon the demand for the station at that time.

          5    How development is occurring along the 42nd Street

          6  corridor.  I would imagine it will move, once we get

          7  this underway, and we're a few years down the line,

          8  and we'll turn our attention to how that station

          9  will be fit out.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  And the

         11  Council has not received an updated estimate of

         12  development costs for the project in some time.  We

         13  know your testimony referred to some of the

         14  generalities.  We know that the cost of the Number

         15  Seven Subway has risen slightly, at least in the

         16  last year.  Can you provide us with an estimate of

         17  overall development costs, including those for

         18  parks, streets, and other infrastructure

         19  improvements in the Hudson Yards Financing District?

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We will send

         21  you a more detailed budget, but our estimate, when

         22  we completed the rezoning in early 2005, was it

         23  would require roughly $3 billion in order to

         24  complete the needed infrastructure.  Most

         25  importantly, the Number Seven line.  And our
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          2  estimate is still within that range.

          3                 And in fact, with respect to the

          4  Number Seven Line, we believe that we will be within

          5  the original estimate.  We have simply agreed to

          6  increase the amount that we will fund in order to

          7  provide a greater measure of safety.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  We also

          9  haven't received an update on debt service estimates

         10  in conjunction with this project.  Can you give us

         11  an update on that as well?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: And Mark, if

         13  you want to go ahead and take that.

         14                 MR. PAGE: I think that we had an

         15  amount actually in this year's budget, that the

         16  interest costs on the debt to be issued by the

         17  Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation.  The timing

         18  of that issuance, we hope it will take place in the

         19  next few months, for the practical matter.  And as

         20  you know, in the Council's approval, the City

         21  undertook to pay interest costs on the debt incurred

         22  to finance the Number Seven and the infrastructure

         23  improvements until the revenue derived in the Hudson

         24  Yards area rises to a point where it will carry

         25  itself.
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          2                 I think that the actual costs of that

          3  annual interest subsidy from the City is something

          4  that we will have a much better handle on as we go

          5  through the next few months, and the rating agency

          6  process and have a better sense of the level of

          7  interest we'd be required to pay in order to borrow

          8  the approximately $3 billion we're looking to borrow

          9  in the next couple of years, probably.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Would you be able

         11  to provide us with an update as you get closer to

         12  the financing and the rating agencies?

         13                 MR. PAGE: Absolutely.  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you.

         15    I know  --

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Just to  --

         17  excuse me Mr. Chairman.  Just to elaborate on that

         18  for a moment.  Since we do not foresee the amount

         19  needed to be raised as increasing, rates have not

         20  moved materially since we made our original

         21  projection, we aren't assuming a faster or slower

         22  timetable, other than a little bit of a delay at the

         23  beginning, which is what we've incurred over the

         24  past year.  I don't believe at this moment, we

         25  foresee the debt service costs being materially
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          2  different than what we would have shown you a year

          3  or so ago.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  If they do

          5  change, I would hope you would give us a regular

          6  update.

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  We've

          9  been joined by Councilman Jim Gennaro, from Queens.

         10  And Council Member Mike McMahon, from Staten Island.

         11

         12                 I know I have some more questions,

         13  but I'm going to allow my Co- Chairs and colleagues

         14  to ask questions and reserve the right to come back.

         15    Chair Liu.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Chair

         17  Weprin.  Once again, thank you Deputy Mayor and

         18  Budget Director.  What is the latest, in terms of

         19  how much the City will pay the MTA?

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: It will be up

         21  to $2.1 billion.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: No, how much the

         23  City will pay the MTA for the property.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Oh.  Well, we

         25  are really only going to acquire a 50 percent
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          2  interest in the transferable air rights.  Those are

          3  from the Eastern Rail Yards.  So we'll pay $200

          4  million for those.  Now, we'll pay the MTA that over

          5  essentially a four- year period of time.  And we

          6  will  --  closer to a three- year period of time.

          7  Then, we will direct, subject to certain

          8  limitations, all sales of those air rights to

          9  developers who wish to build in the surrounding

         10  area.  And we will get all of the proceeds from

         11  those air rights until we have gotten our money

         12  back, our $200 million back with interest.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So the City

         14   --  the plan right now is that the City is going to

         15  pay $200 million for a portion of the rights.  Right

         16  off the bat, that's a lot more than the Jets were

         17  originally going to pay for that property.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think it's

         19  totally different, because we, in fact, are not

         20  purchasing the Western Rail Yards at all, or the

         21  right to build on the Western Rail Yards. What we

         22  are doing is leading a planning process that will

         23  lead to a RFP.  Whatever is paid pursuant to that

         24  RFP will be for the benefit of the MTA.  So we do

         25  not know today how much the MTA will receive for the
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          2  Western Rail Yards.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  And then, the

          4  investment by the City of the $200 million, and part

          5  of the development rights, that will, as you

          6  mentioned before, lead to revenues realized by the

          7  City later on.  Is there an estimate of how much

          8  that will be? You said the first portions will be

          9  used to pay off the $200 million that the City will

         10  pay to the MTA.  But what's the totality, the total

         11  estimated amount of revenue that the City is looking

         12  to realize?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: It will

         14  depend on how long it takes to get our money back

         15  with interest.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But isn't there some

         17  kind of a net present value analysis done already?

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think that

         19  present value is $200 million.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So that's a break-

         21  even proposition for the City.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes.  That's

         23  correct.  In effect, what we're doing, is we're

         24  putting money out up front, in order to gain the

         25  right to control the development in the surrounding

                                                            31

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  area.  And we believe we're taking no risk to do

          3  that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  So no risk,

          5  and so if it truly is no risk, then it's reasonable

          6  to just have a break- even scenario.

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But then we're

          9  expecting that with the up front guidance of the

         10  City, your office especially, that the private

         11  development, and the negotiations that the private

         12  developers will undertake with the MTA, that will

         13  generate for the City billions of dollars of future

         14  revenues.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Absolutely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And so what is that

         17  total?  Because you said part of that total revenue

         18  that's expected to be generated will pay for the

         19  $2.1 billion cost of the Seven Train extension.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: If you

         21  actually look at the total tax and other revenues

         22  generated out of the Hudson Yards area, which we

         23  would maintain the vast majority of which would

         24  never occur, but for the investments we're making in

         25  the Number Seven Line and other infrastructure, we
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          2  think over time, the amount of money that we will

          3  get back, will be in excess of $25 billion.        CHAIRPERSON

          4  LIU: Is that $25 billion spread over 30 years?  Or

          5  roughly how much that is right now?

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That would be

          7  over 30 or 25 years or so.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So maybe like $10

          9  billion today?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: In that

         11  range, yes.  It's a great investment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         13                 MR. PAGE: In terms of today, the

         14  benefits, the value that New York City gets out of

         15  this investment is basically an increase in its tax

         16  base.  And that is partly represented in the pilot

         17  revenues that will pay back the debt that we're

         18  incurring to finance the train and the other

         19  infrastructure improvement.  But it's also revenue

         20  that New York City will have.  I mean, when

         21  additional development happens, and we're looking

         22  for a substantial commercial and residential

         23  development in the Hudson Yards area, in the long

         24  run, that provides more wealth to New York City.

         25  And that is ultimately our tax base.  And that's
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          2  really what we're talking about, in terms of the

          3  Deputy Mayor's $25 billion, and it's a number that

          4  should continue indefinitely, in terms of supporting

          5  New York City.  It's not a number that we're going

          6  to realize tomorrow.  This is something that

          7  requires the investment and development in the area

          8  to build over time.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think I understand

         10  that Mr. Page. I'm just asking for  --  you know,

         11  obviously, we're looking to expand the economic

         12  activity in the City, expand the tax revenue base.

         13  And that certainly will happen here.  But there must

         14  be some kind of a present value analysis that you've

         15  conducted.  And I'm not asking you exactly how much

         16  that present value is today, but isn't there some

         17  kind of range?  Obviously, it has to be more than

         18  $2.1 billion.

         19                 MR. PAGE: Let me put it this way.

         20  And I know, given your background, you will

         21  appreciate this.  We're investing roughly $3 billion

         22  in the Number Seven Line, and other infrastructures.

         23    If you look over a 25- year period, the annual

         24  rate of return on our investment, over a 25- year

         25  period of time, would be roughly 17 percent a year.
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          2  There is no place that government can invest money

          3  and earn that kind of return over that long a period

          4  of time.  In fact, even if you look at major

          5  corporations, less than one percent of them would

          6  earn that kind of return over that kind of period of

          7  time.

          8                 So yes, the present value number,

          9  we'll calculate it for you, but I would like to

         10  reiterate, this really is an exceptional investment.

         11    We think the best investment that the City can

         12  make.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, and that's a

         14  very good answer, and Mr. Page, I hope you can

         15  appreciate that I  --  I mean, you're saying

         16  basically, it's a $3 billion  --  the net present

         17  value is $3 billion.  With a 17 percent rate of

         18  return over 25 years.  That's what you're saying.

         19                 MR. PAGE: No, I think the net value

         20  is actually higher than what we're investing and

         21  that present value is much higher, because the City

         22  doesn't demand a 17 percent rate of return.  But the

         23  fact of the matter is I think the way you stated it

         24  is, it's $3 billion with a 17 rate of return, which

         25  you know, is pretty spectacular.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.  And so when

          3  we come up with all this creativity in terms of

          4  generating such a large return on investment for the

          5  Hudson Yards, are we also looking at other parts of

          6  the City where similar kinds of returns  --  or is

          7  this really this site a unique area in the City, so

          8  much different from other parts in the City that can

          9  generate such a large return for the City?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think this

         11  area is unique. That's not to say you can't achieve

         12  lower returns but still acceptable returns,

         13  potentially, in other parts of the City.  But the

         14  thing that drives these extraordinary returns are

         15  the property taxes that are paid, mostly by

         16  commercial developers.  They generate more,

         17  certainly on a present value basis, than residential

         18  development does.  And it really is in Midtown

         19  Manhattan where you have this demand in such large

         20  scale, in order to be able to make this work.  But

         21  that's not to say there aren't other places where

         22  you can try it out in a much smaller scale where

         23  expectations wouldn't be as high.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Great.  Thank

         25  you very much. Thank you Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Chair

          3  Liu.  We've also been joined by Council Member

          4  Darlene Mealy, from Brooklyn. Welcome.  I'm now

          5  going to turn it over to Chair White for a series of

          6  questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, in

         10  relationship to the project, the minority and women-

         11  owned business enterprises.  How does the

         12  implementation of the process of what intent will

         13  business registered as minority and women- owned

         14  businesses fit into the MWBE fit into the Hudson

         15  Yard Infrastructure Corporation?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: You have to

         17  look at in different pieces.  With respect to the

         18  Number Seven Subway Line, that will be governed by

         19  the MTA's own requirements, which I believe mandate

         20  that 20 percent of all contracts, subcontracts be

         21  filled by minority and women- owned businesses.

         22  With respect to the Hudson Yards Infrastructure

         23  Corporation, the rest of the stuff that the City

         24  will be carrying out, the City's policies will

         25  govern, and I believe   --  you know  --  go ahead.
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          2                 MR. PAGE: The Infrastructure

          3  Corporation, the primary purpose of the

          4  Infrastructure Corporation is to actually borrow the

          5  money, sell the bonds here to finance the costs.

          6  And that's done through a group of underwriters

          7  which were basically put together I guess, a couple

          8  years ago.  Maybe more than that now, by competitive

          9  process.  The lead underwriter on the first bond

         10  sale, which is the sort of most difficult to get

         11  going, is Goldman Sachs.  But then there's a whole

         12  team of firms cooperating with them in this

         13  structure, which includes a substantial number of

         14  minority and women- owned firms in those teams.

         15  Altogether, there are seven out of the 22 in the

         16  sort of more senior group of the teams, who are

         17  minority and women- owned businesses.  Then there's

         18  a longer list, which is known as a "selling group",

         19  which includes some 76 different firms that sell

         20  bonds.  Out of those 76, there are 16 minority and

         21  women- owned businesses included in this team. In

         22  this financing, as is true for City financings in

         23  general, we attempt to be very inclusive in terms of

         24  smaller minority and women- owned businesses in the

         25  finance business that want to participate in
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          2  distributing our bonds.  Which is good for them and

          3  good for us, because we're always looking for new

          4  investors and new ways of approaching investors to

          5  buy our debt.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.  Thank you.

          7  Would it be an imposition on your part  --  I would

          8  like to you know, see a list for purposes of the

          9  Economic Development Committee, of those

         10  individuals.

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I'd be happy

         12  to give that to you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: We'll be dealing

         14  with a lot of that, and I would like to see how many

         15  women and minority- owned business are participating

         16  in the growth of the City of New York. And whether

         17  or not it's the same, or are we broaden the base and

         18  including more in other projects as we go along.

         19  Thank you very much.

         20                 SPEAKER QUINN: I just want to jump in

         21  for one second, if I could, and just thank you for

         22  you know, bringing up -  to do the follow up with

         23  the Chairperson White, and just underscore that the

         24  concerns of the Chair in the wanting to look at this

         25  in an ongoing way is also something that is of
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          2  concern and on the agenda for the Speaker's Office

          3  as well.  So I just wanted to say that.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's fine.

          5  Good.

          6                 SPEAKER QUINN: When he's speaking on

          7  that, he's speaking for both of us.

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Good.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Madam

         10  Speaker.  We've been joined by Council Member Dianna

         11  Reyna, from Brooklyn and Queens.  The next

         12  questioner is Council Member Koppell.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you

         14  very much Mr. Chairman.  First of all, just so I

         15  have a little better understanding  --  and I'm

         16  looking at a chart that was prepared by the Council

         17  staff  --  the properties controlled by the HYIC,

         18  the Infrastructure Corporation, in the future, those

         19  properties are going to be both the Eastern Yards

         20  and the Western Yards?  Is that correct?

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's

         22  correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.  And

         24  those properties are technically going to be exempt

         25  from real estate taxes?  Is that true?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I know you're

          4  going to get pilots, but I'm trying to distinguish

          5  between  --

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Let me first

          7  clarify though, the properties, the Eastern and

          8  Western Rail Yards.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Today, they

         11  are owned by the MTA.  In the future, we'll have to

         12  determine whether they sell them or they lease them.

         13    But fundamentally, they're the MTA's property, and

         14  will be.  We will receive a payment in lieu of

         15  taxes, in terms of the property taxes, the

         16  commercial property taxes.  With respect to

         17  residential property taxes, you could, as are the

         18  rest of Hudson Yards, assume receive directly the

         19  actual real estate taxes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So the reason

         21  I ask that is just to understand.  The pilots are

         22  going to be used at least  -- and I'll ask  --  let

         23  me just say this, because I'm going to ask a

         24  question about it in a minute  --  but the pilots

         25  are going to be used essentially, at least
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          2  initially, for the building of the Number Seven

          3  Line.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's

          5  correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.  So is

          7  the City going to realize any direct tax revenue, at

          8  any point, from the development?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Absolutely.

         10  To the extent that the tax revenues are not required

         11  to pay debt service for the Seven Line and other

         12  infrastructure, then the remainder will flow back to

         13  the City, part of the general fund, as we talked

         14  about before, with Council Member Liu's questions.

         15  We have $3 billion of total costs, if you will.  And

         16  there's a significant amount above that that will be

         17  coming back to the City in the form of taxes. All of

         18  that excess, other than what's necessary to pay the

         19  debt service, the interest and principal on the

         20  bonds, will come back to the City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So will that

         22  come back to the City because at some point, the

         23  pilot payments will be transformed into real estate

         24  taxes?  No.  Never.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: No.  But the
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          2  actual effect will be exactly the same.  It will

          3  come back because we don't need them anymore to pay

          4  debt service, and therefore all excess money that

          5  flows into the Hudson Yards Infrastructure

          6  Corporation will then flow out to the City.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And the

          8  pilots initially are set at a lower rate than

          9  regular real estate tax rate, correct? For a certain

         10  number of years.

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's true.

         12  But it's actually  --  I mean, it is not actually a

         13  proposed lower rate than the City would normally

         14  charge on a newly constructed commercial or

         15  residential building.  It  --  the pattern here

         16  pretty will parallels how the City would treat and

         17  encourage an investor in a building of this kind

         18  elsewhere in Manhattan.  It's not a notably better

         19  deal for the Hudson Yards than would be true in much

         20  of the rest of the City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But I did

         22  note, in at least the memo that we received, not

         23  your memo, that as you get further west, so you're

         24  less attractive in terms of development, the

         25  discount you get if you will, from the full real
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          2  estate taxes goes up.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That is

          4  correct. And that, as you pointed out, is incentive

          5  to actually encourage people to build.  On the other

          6  hand, compared to other parts of the City, take for

          7  example, the World Trade Center site, the taxes that

          8  will be paid on the Rail Yards property developed on

          9  the Rail Yards, will be maybe more than twice as

         10  great as they would be on the World Trade Center

         11  site.

         12                 So the point that the Budget Director

         13  was making is that we're constantly evaluating our

         14   --  the taxes that we charge to people, or payments

         15  in lieu of taxes, based on what we expect the demand

         16  to be, and what we think we need to do in order to

         17  incentivize people to build.  And it just so happens

         18  that it's moved all the way over to the Westside, we

         19  believe you need to have a greater incentive to

         20  build.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Are the pilot

         22  payments going to, over time, change?  For instance,

         23  depending on what City real estate taxes are?  So if

         24  real estate taxes would go up on a property, are the

         25  pilot payments going to go up?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I believe the

          3  pilot payments, I think, go up based on inflation.

          4  They'll go up with inflation for 19 years, and then

          5  they'll reset to market.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So after 19

          7  years, they will be set at whatever the market would

          8  be for regular commercial buildings in Manhattan.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And the

         11  obligation to the MTA is for the $3 billion that the

         12  Number Seven Line will cost.

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Our only

         14  obligation to the MTA is to pay up to $2.1 billion

         15  for the Number Seven Line.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So it's not

         17  $3 billion, it's $2.1 billion.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: The rest of

         19  the other $900 million or so is for the condemnation

         20  of property.  Not just to build the Number Seven

         21  Line, but to build parks and an underground garage,

         22  to build an underground garage.  It's for other

         23  infrastructure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And of

         25  course, but the City, we the Council, to the extent
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          2  that monies don't flow into the Infrastructure

          3  Corporation from investments or by developers, we

          4  have to come up with that money.

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: What the City

          6    --  the Council, the Administration can gather

          7  through the budget are required to fund is only the

          8  interests costs to the extent that the revenues

          9  generated out of the area are not sufficient.  And

         10  we believe that will be the case.  There will be a

         11  shortfall for the first ten years or so.  After

         12  that, we expect to see substantial surpluses.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well I at

         14  least thank you. I think that helps us to understand

         15  the deal.  As you know, Deputy Mayor, I've had sort

         16  of a vision  --  I don't know how many people share

         17  it  --  but some do, of using the actual shore front

         18  for a possible pier, since using the waterfront for

         19  waterfront- related uses, at least to me, makes

         20  sense.  Does the development of the western portion

         21  of the Rail Yard permit the consideration of such a

         22  use?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We, together

         24   --  and I'll only emphasize, we're going to do this

         25  in conjunction with the Council and with the
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          2  community board, over the next six months or so,

          3  will be looking at how we comprehensively plan the

          4  Western Rail Yards.  It's possible that we will

          5  extend that over the Westside Highway, and do

          6  something in collaboration with Hudson River Park.

          7  So I'm not pre- judging.  There is no plan today,

          8  but what we want to do is create a great place in

          9  New York City, one that compliments the rezoning and

         10  the other actions that we took together last year.

         11  So our standard is very high.  What the ultimate

         12  conclusion will be, will be the product of a lot of

         13  debate and discussion.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.  Let

         15  me just merely say that I have had some discussions

         16  with the shipping industry, and I am of a mind that

         17  they would be delighted with that kind of

         18  development.  That doesn't mean that it's

         19  necessarily the best use, but at least it shows that

         20  I'm not completely off base when I make that

         21  proposal.  Thank you Deputy Mayor.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: You're

         23  welcome.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         25  Member.  We've been joined by some more colleagues.
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          2  We have Council Member Eric Gioia, from Queens.  We

          3  have Council Member Gale Brewer, from Manhattan.

          4  And Council Member  Dan Garodnick, from Manhattan.

          5                 The next questioner is Council Member

          6  James.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: For me, this is

          8  the Tale of Two Cities.  Allow me to compare and

          9  contrast the discussion of two rail yards in the

         10  City of New York, and perhaps Deputy Mayor, you can

         11  explain to me why we are treating them differently.

         12  With regards to Hudson Yards, it's my understanding

         13  that we are about to engage in a rezoning of rail

         14  yards.  We issued an RFP.  We engaged in design

         15  guidelines, and according to your own testimony, you

         16  have carefully negotiated and worked with the City

         17  Council staff to come up with this agreement, which

         18  is to be commended, and I congratulate the Speaker

         19  and the Administration for the development of the

         20  Hudson Yards district.

         21                 Going over to Atlantic Yards.  We

         22  have issued and engaged in the largest sole source

         23  contract in the history of the borough of Brooklyn.

         24  We have not engaged in an RFP.  We have pretty much

         25  handed over Atlantic Yards to one developer, Forest
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          2  City Ratner.  We have not engaged in rezoning of

          3  Atlantic Yards, despite the fact that only 40

          4  percent of their rail yards are in that district.

          5  We have assigned our local  --  we have assigned

          6  local control over to the State, where the City

          7  Council and this City Council Member are not

          8  involved in the discussion of Atlantic Yards.

          9                 City Planning just came up with

         10  design guidelines where I asked for a courtesy

         11  meeting, not only with you Mr. Doctoroff, but also

         12  with City Planning.  And was declined.  Was told

         13  that it was not necessary.  My community, we've

         14  engaged in design guidelines.  In fact, we can come

         15  up with our own development for the district and for

         16  Atlantic Yards.  As you know, Deputy Mayor, that was

         17  something that I conducted, a sherette (phonetic)

         18  the first week I was elected.  We, too, want

         19  development at Atlantic Yards.  We just want an

         20  equitable development, a development that reflects

         21  and respects the character of the community.

         22                 So Mr. Doctoroff, I have to ask you

         23  the question, Why are these two rail yards being

         24  treated differently?  Why was one rail yard put out

         25  for bid, and the other sole- sources?  And why does
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          2  one, the Brooklyn, why does that only cost $150

          3  million, and the others, the Hudson Yards, it's

          4  anticipated will cost much, much more?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member,

          6  I'll allow this question as a comparison.  But we

          7  have a lot of people having to ask questions,

          8  specifically on the Hudson Yards.  So I would ask

          9  you not to go off too far on an issue that's not

         10  currently being contemplated by this hearing.  But

         11  certainly, the question as a comparison, is

         12  certainly acceptable.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And let me also

         14  say that in the testimony of Mr. Doctoroff,

         15  affordable housing is not mentioned.  Clearly it's a

         16  priority for this City Council, and I would think a

         17  priority for this Administration.  And I don't

         18  understand why that the word or the concept of

         19  affordable housing is not mentioned once.

         20

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well let me

         22  first address that.  The reason it's not mentioned

         23  here today is because over a year and a half ago, we

         24  reached a historic agreement with the City Council

         25  to provide roughly 30 percent of affordable housing
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          2  in the Hudson Yards.  So the only reason we're not

          3  bringing it up today is we addressed it in the past.

          4    It does not, in any way, undermine our commitment

          5  to affordable housing, either in this area, or

          6  elsewhere around the City.

          7                 With respect to your question of the

          8  comparison of Atlantic Yards and Hudson Yards,

          9  they're completely different in many ways.  You

         10  raised the question of cost.  Well it's simply the

         11  cost of infrastructure in order to make the Hudson

         12  Yards a place where developers are willing to

         13  invest, is simply that much greater.  It's greater

         14  because unlike the Atlantic Yards, the Hudson Yards

         15  has no mass transit.  Whereas Atlantic Yards sits on

         16  what is probably the third best transit hub in the

         17  City as a whole.

         18                 You also asked why there was no RFP

         19  for the Atlantic Yards.  I would actually beg to

         20  differ with you.  The MTA did conduct an RFP.  It

         21  received two bids for the Atlantic Yards.  It

         22  selected for Forest City Ratner's proposal over one

         23  from Extel (phonetic).  But there was a process.  I

         24  am not going to sit here and tell you that process

         25  was perfect.  It certainly didn't suit everyone's
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          2  needs.  And despite your comment about me and not

          3  meeting, you know that on many, many occasions, over

          4  the course of the past few years, you and your staff

          5  have met with my staff to talk about the Atlantic

          6  Yards.

          7                 But it's simply a different process.

          8  In that case, with the MTA and ESBC chose to pursue

          9  a process that is done all over the City.  Whether

         10  that is on the World Trade Center site itself, or

         11  for the Javits Center, or for Moynihan Station, or

         12  for Queens West, or for the redevelopment of Times

         13  Square, what we find is that where the State

         14  controls the property, typically, you will follow a

         15  State- run process.  In this case, we thought it was

         16  particularly important to go through ULURP in large

         17  part because we've already done that with the rest

         18  of the area.  And we felt that it was absolutely

         19  critical to have the two efforts be consistent.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me just say

         21  that the Atlantic Yards in Brooklyn is only 40

         22  percent of the land in question.  Most of that land,

         23  as you know, is in private and City owned property.

         24  There has been a factual inaccuracy which

         25  unfortunately, has oftentimes been repeated, that
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          2  Atlantic Yards makes up most of the  --  the rail

          3  yards makes up most of the property.  That is not

          4  correct.  It only represents 40 percent of the land

          5  in question.  There's a lot of City- owned property

          6  and privately- owned property.  And in fact, it was

          7  once a urban development site, and there was seven

          8  amendments, seven amendments approved by this body.

          9  And so, there is nothing prohibiting this body from

         10  engaging in a rezoning of Atlantic Yards.  And they

         11  were basically treated differently.  I recognize

         12  that my district does not look like the Upper West

         13  Side, or the Upper West Side, but  -- and I

         14  recognize that the average median income in my

         15  community is much lower than the Upper West Side,

         16  but clearly, my community, and the constituents that

         17  I represent are very much concerned about the

         18  development in their backyard.  And they should have

         19  been included. And I seriously  --  I also challenge

         20  you on the number of meetings that my staff have had

         21  with yours.  I don't recall any.  We've had

         22  discussions with regard to the BAM LDC, but not with

         23  respect to Atlantic Yards.  Buy I'm sure we'll

         24  continue these discussions.

         25                 Let me also go on to say that there's
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          2  been recent reports about the downturn in the

          3  economy.  A number of luxury coops and condos,

          4  according to Crane's, how they've reduced their

          5  asking price and their purchase price.  The Upper

          6  West Side is competing with Lower Manhattan, with

          7  Williamsburg, with Jamaica, with Brooklyn, with

          8  Downtown Brooklyn.  And Atlantic Yards.  Are you not

          9  concerned with regards to whether or not we're in a

         10  position to pay back all of these bonds?

         11                 Let me also go on to say that Shelly

         12  Silver, Assemblyman Shelly Silver, the Speaker, is

         13  very much concerned with about all the emphasis on

         14  Upper Manhattan as opposed to Lower Manhattan.

         15  What are your thoughts about that?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: My thoughts

         17  about that first of all, are that it's clear Speaker

         18  Silver represents a district. We here represent a

         19  City as a whole.  We have made very clear, on many

         20  occasions, that we feel that focus on the West Side

         21  and Lower Manhattan do not have to be mutually

         22  exclusive.  In fact, it is our job to focus on all

         23  of the City.  And so, we are in the process of

         24  developing commercial districts, not just in

         25  Manhattan, but in Downtown Brooklyn, in Flushing, in
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          2  Jamaica, in Harlem, and to some extent, in the South

          3  Bronx.  And in Long Island City.  We have an

          4  important job.  We foresee significant growth in the

          5  economy over the coming decades.  Right now, we do

          6  not have the capacity to accommodate it.  For every

          7  square foot that we don't develop that we could,

          8  there is a risk that the jobs that come with that

          9  development will flee somewhere else.  And as a

         10  result, if we don't focus on the whole City, we are

         11  going to find ourselves in the same situation we

         12  found ourselves in the '90s, when 60,000 jobs fled

         13  across the river to New Jersey.  We are not going to

         14  let that happen.  And we are not going to let a

         15  myopic focus on one area of the City deter us from

         16  thinking about the broader future of the City.

         17                 With respect to your question about

         18  the economy of the City, right now, we remain

         19  optimistic.  Clearly, nationally, there are warning

         20  signs, particularly about the housing market.

         21  Although selling prices may have come off their peak

         22  slightly, it is much less than what you see in the

         23  rest of the country.  And in fact, if you look at

         24  housing permits that have been issued, permits for

         25  units of housing that have been issued in the City,
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          2  this year versus last year, based on the most recent

          3  information we have, we're running even to slightly

          4  ahead of last year.  And that is not the case in the

          5  rest of the country.  This is a very resilient

          6  market right now.  And we hope it will continue.

          7  Obviously, we are a cyclical City, to a large

          8  extent.  Our cycles are determined by what happens

          9  on Wall Street.  Despite our efforts to diversify

         10  away from Wall Street as much as we possibly can so

         11  we are not impervious to downturns, but right now,

         12  things look good.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I recognize

         14  that the number of permits are up, but I also

         15  recognize that a significant number of developers

         16  are not converting their properties from co- ops and

         17  condos to rentals, or they're considering it.  And

         18  so,  --  and I recognize that growth is good, but

         19  growth has its limits and its consequences.  And so,

         20  the question is, are we in a position to pay back

         21  all these bonds that we are issuing?  Or are we

         22  saddling more debt on the next generations to come?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We believe

         24  that we re structuring this financing very

         25  prudently.  That we are structuring it to survive
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          2  cycles, both good and bad.  And as a result, if you

          3  do that, we think the rewards for the City, in the

          4  intermediate term and in the long term, will be

          5  vast.  This, as I said earlier, in response to

          6  Chairman Liu's question, is the single- best

          7  investment in our future.  That there will be

          8  literally billions and billions of excess dollars of

          9  revenues that won't just go to the West Side of

         10  Manhattan, or Manhattan.  They will go to people

         11  throughout this City to pay for things like

         12  education, and social services, health care, and

         13  transportation, and other things that make this the

         14  great City that it is.  And the most compassionate

         15  City in the United States.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And we're

         17  trying to recruit jobs from New Jersey.  We guess

         18  your concern is that we want to prevent the fleeing

         19  of jobs to New Jersey.  What jobs are we focusing

         20  on?  Is it primarily in the area of fire, finance,

         21  insurance, and real estate?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We're not

         23  just focusing on jobs from New Jersey  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the only

         25  reason why I focus  --  I mention that is because a
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          2  lot of the jobs that I'm seeing in the Borough of

          3  Brooklyn focus on retail.  And families in the

          4  Borough of Brooklyn and throughout the City cannot

          5  sustain families based on retail positions.  And all

          6  these back office jobs, unfortunately, a significant

          7  number of my constituents and constituents from a

          8  number of districts throughout the City of New York

          9  have not been properly trained to get these jobs.

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: If you look

         11  at the job creation over the past couple of years,

         12  we've increased the number of jobs in the last two

         13  and a half to three years,  by about 150,000 in this

         14  City.  That's roughly five percent or so of the

         15  total employment base.  If you look at where those

         16  jobs have been created, it's in virtually every

         17  industry.  It's in Wall Street, it's in service

         18  sectors like accounting and law and consulting, it's

         19  in health care, it's in tourism.  It is in

         20  education, it is in film and TV production, it is in

         21  construction.  Every segment, practically, of the

         22  economy of this City is doing well.  Even in

         23  manufacturing, which for so long, we have watched

         24  the number of manufacturing jobs in this City

         25  decline, year after year, after year.  If you accept
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          2  garment manufacturing, where we still have an issue,

          3  but non- clothing manufacturing, it's stable for the

          4  first time since World War II.  So we're focused on

          5  creating jobs in every sector.  We're focused on

          6  recruiting jobs from not just New Jersey, but every

          7  part of the United States and the world.  We are

          8  focused on creating them in every part of this City.

          9    And I think thus far, we've been pretty

         10  successful.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Mr. Chairman, I

         12  don't want to monopulate (sic), monopulate this

         13  session.  I have more questions, but I have a

         14  meeting with the Navy Yard to discuss the

         15  development of the Navy Yard and to discuss the

         16  manufacturing jobs for Downtown Brooklyn.  But I

         17  hope as we go forward, you will meet with me and my

         18  staff to discuss Atlantic Yards and other issues

         19  that we have related to development in Downtown

         20  Brooklyn.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         22  Member.  We have five more Council Members that have

         23  questions to ask.  And we have one, two, three, four

         24    --  eight witnesses after the Deputy Mayor.  So I

         25  would please ask my colleagues to try to limit their
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          2  questions, if they can, please.  Council Member

          3  McMahon.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Thank you Mr.

          5  Chairman.  I commend you and the Co- Chairmen here

          6  for a very interesting hearing.  And Deputy Mayor

          7  and Director Page, thank you for coming.           I

          8  want to ask a question  --  two questions.  One,

          9  sort of as you mentioned, someone who represents a

         10  district, and then on a broader focus as Chairperson

         11  of a City Council Committee. Council Member James

         12  touched on it, and even in the package that's

         13  presented for us by the Council staff, one of the

         14  sort of concerns that they foresee in moving this

         15  forward is that Council Members from the outer

         16  boroughs may feel there's too much focus on

         17  Manhattan, Manhattan, Manhattan.  And you've spoken

         18  to the fact very eloquently that we can't be myopic.

         19    In effect, we can do more than one thing at once.

         20  The problem I have is that in the list prepared by

         21  the Council, and as you listed off of many locations

         22  in the City, Downtown, or St. George, Staten Island

         23  was never mentioned.  And as you know, I've been

         24  calling for the creation of sort of a coordinator

         25  and Ms. Sun (phonetic) from your office has been
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          2  very responsible working on that.  But I just want

          3  to know, how can I raise the level of that district

          4  and get it on the list that the Council speaks of

          5  and the list that you speak of, as a place in the

          6  City of New York that is on the sort of the

          7  precipice of stepping off and really booming and

          8  having the economic development and being another

          9  one of these engines that we speak about?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I don't think

         11  you have to do anything.  In fact, I sat down with

         12  my staff and a number of the agencies involved last

         13  week, and we are certainly going to take up your

         14  recommendation for a coordinated effort on the North

         15  Shore. You know we've worked very well together on

         16  the Stapleton area. And we're going to look at the

         17  entire North Shore of Staten Island in a

         18  comprehensive way.  So your cries have been heard.

         19  And I  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: I appreciate

         21  that and I  --

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF:  --  And

         23  we're ready to move forward.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Good.  I'd

         25  love to have a host of you come out and look at the
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          2  field and have a feel for it.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I'd love to

          4  do that.  That would be great.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: And then my

          6  broader  -- thank you  --  and then my broader sort

          7  of Citywide question is, as you know, this past

          8  Summer, and over a few years, we had an intense

          9  discussion about the future of solid waste

         10  management in the City of New York.  And the big

         11  problem we have is with Manhattan and siting is

         12  always a problem anywhere.  But even more so in

         13  Manhattan, for obvious reasons.  And actually, in

         14  your office, EDC was very instrumental in that Ms.

         15  Asher and Commissioner Doherty and Speaker Quinn, in

         16  coming up with a plan.  But the most fragile part of

         17  that plan, or the risk factor still is in Manhattan.

         18    And we have Gansevoort, which is at risk, because

         19  it needs State action.  59th Street may need State

         20  action as well.  And one of the proposals that came

         21  forward in that process was to use the southern most

         22  part of the rail yards.  I may have misstated the

         23  geography, 30th Street and 11th Avenue I think

         24  there's a site that many think could work overall to

         25  plan the future development of such a large chunk of
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          2  Manhattan, and not to include a provision for a

          3  piece of that land to site and to be able to move

          4  out waste in the future, I think would be a grave

          5  mistake.  Can you tell me how much that issue is in

          6  your minds as you look at this plan?  And how much

          7  will it be in your minds as you move forward?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well we

          9  certainly are committed to the solid waste

         10  management plan, which we believe, despite the risks

         11  that you talk about, equitably distributes the

         12  burdens to all five boroughs.  And we're committed

         13  to moving that forward.  We do not believe that

         14  adding an element to it, to the Hudson Yards area,

         15  given the significant amount of revenues that the

         16  area will generate, which will benefit all five

         17  boroughs, makes it worthwhile spending a lot of time

         18  focusing on it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: But if not

         20  there, then where?  I mean, there has to be, as we

         21  plan the economic and overall future of the City,

         22  driven by the engine of Manhattan, if we move

         23  forward on such a large piece of land without

         24  contemplating some use there for transporting trash

         25  out of the City, then I think the fears of the outer
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          2  borough people who are saying Manhattan will never

          3  do their fair share, and not live up to its

          4  requirements, and the borough self sufficiency will

          5  not be met.  I think, and I'll just say this and

          6  obviously we disagree, it will be a grave mistake

          7  not to look at that aspect of planning for the City

          8  as we move forward.  And you can be sure that I will

          9  advocate for that as we look at the specific ULURP

         10  actions moving forward.

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I appreciate

         12  that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         14  Member.  In the interest of time, a number of

         15  colleagues have agreed to hold their questions.  And

         16  they'll get extra credit for that.  We appreciate

         17  that.  We've also been joined by Council Member Bill

         18  de Blasio, from Brooklyn.  The last two questioners,

         19  briefly, for this witness are Council Member David

         20  Yassky, followed by Council Member Gale Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And Mr. Chair,

         22  we expect extra credit from the Deputy Mayor's

         23  Office as well.  I was going to make a clever

         24  response.  You've already gotten it, but I won't do

         25  that.  We have many things to do together.

                                                            64

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's Council

          3  Member Gerson and Sears who get the extra credit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We're very

          5  excited about everything we've worked on together in

          6  Lower Manhattan.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you Mr.

          8  Chair.  I will take  --  you know, half the time, so

          9  I'll come by for my half credit to your office later

         10  on.  Thank you.

         11                 Just very briefly, the rezoning that

         12  the main Hudson River Yards rezoning was a year and

         13  some ago?  If I  --  a year and a half, maybe,

         14  whatever.  A year and a quarter.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: A year and a

         16  half or so.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: How much

         18  development have we seen to date?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well what

         20  we've seen this far is significant progress on the

         21  residential front.  Many developers moving ahead

         22  with projects.  We've seen less on the commercial

         23  side.  But we didn't expect to see that until

         24  developers had confidence that the Seven Line was

         25  moving ahead.  This agreement that we announced a
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          2  couple of weeks ago, really is the final piece of

          3  the puzzle that unlocks the value, because it

          4  finally, after quite a long time of trying, assured

          5  us that all of the pilot payments out of the entire

          6  Hudson Yards area, including the Western Rail Yards,

          7  would be dedicated to financing.  And that's what's

          8  made the financing of the Number Seven Line

          9  possible. That's why it's really full steam ahead at

         10  this point.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And to be

         12  sure, I mean, I think this is an absolutely terrific

         13  step for the City.  I think what you said in your

         14  statement about showing that we can do big things,

         15  is of just critical importance.  It is critically

         16  important that the City do big things, show we can

         17  do big things for the future.  And this is

         18  absolutely one of them.  So I commend you for that.

         19                 My last question, or couple of

         20  questions, about the --  I just do want to make sure

         21  I get the numbers.  You were saying it was 17

         22  percent, or I guess estimates are what they are, but

         23  we're looking for a significant, as you put it,

         24  return on the investment.  When you say that, you're

         25  talking about tax revenue for the City?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Only

          3  incremental tax revenue, above what we believe would

          4  have occurred but for the investments that we're

          5  making.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And that's not

          7  just  --

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: And that's 17

          9  percent annually, over a 25- year period of time.

         10  So you know, $3 billion will become roughly $25

         11  billion over a 25- year period of time.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So that's kind

         13  of  --  I mean, 17 percent would be somewhere at a

         14  half billion a year in extra tax revenue.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Yes.  It will

         16  grow from a little bit at the beginning, but a

         17  couple billion dollars a year we think, over time.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And that's not

         19  the property tax, obviously.  That's all tax, --

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That's

         21  property taxes, sales taxes, income taxes for people

         22  who work in the area.  And we think it really is

         23  largely incremental because if you look today and

         24  say, well where will new employees go in Midtown?

         25  There's virtually no place to go.  And so I think
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          2  you can make the case that virtually all development

          3  that occurs here, and all the employees and activity

          4  really wouldn't have a place to go otherwise.  Not

          5  all, but the vast majority.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And wouldn't

          7  occur without the Seven.

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Definitely

          9  not.  Well that's the history.  People have been

         10  talking about this area for 80 years.  You can

         11  actually go back and look at the newspaper accounts

         12  from the 1920s.  People talking about, well what are

         13  we going to do about the rail yards over here?  And

         14  we're finally doing it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And that's  --

         16    is that over and above the paying back the $3

         17  billion?  Or that's kind of including the  --

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Oh, it's

         19  including what you'd have to do to pay back.  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  We've

         22  been joined by Council Member Larry Seabrook, from

         23  the Bronx.  And the last questioner for this witness

         24  is Council Member Gale Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much.  Thank you Mr. Deputy Mayor.  My question is

          3  on wireless and broadband. As you know, we've been

          4  working on it.  I know that you've been focused in

          5  on it with EDC.  And so this area will include, in

          6  addition, with the new subway, could we in fact,

          7  find some way to use some of this effort, which I

          8  think you would agree needs wireless broadband

          9  connections to help the rest of the subway,

         10  regarding when the trains come in.  You know, all

         11  these things that we've been talking about for a

         12  long time.  I think you know them all.  Buses,

         13  subways.  When are they coming?  Other cities have

         14  it. I know we want it.  We've been talking.  It's

         15  the same 20- year discussion.  But I didn't know,

         16  since I assume the new subway extension would have

         17  some of these appropriately of assistance to riders,

         18  if we could figure out a way of doing it more

         19  systemwide.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I can't

         21  address the specifics of what we will be doing in

         22  this area with respect to broadband or wireless, but

         23  what I can say is that we are creating an entirely

         24  new center city.  A new Downtown.  And it would be

         25  completely inconsistent with our vision of the
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          2  future of New York and of the creation of this new

          3  place, if it was not the most sophisticated that it

          4  possibly can be from a technological perspective.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And the

          6  subway also.

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Again, I

          8  can't commit to that right now.  But we'll certainly

          9  be pushing for a technological solution that's

         10  commensurate with the modernity of the entire area.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You can skip

         12  all that.  I got it.

         13                 Okay.  Next question is the green

         14  building.  Last night, Hersht opened its green

         15  building.  How green will the buildings be?  More

         16  than the LEAD?  Or just up to LEAD?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well you

         18  know, there are several levels of LEAD  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I do.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: What

         21  specifically the standards will be, I can't say.

         22  However, you also know that the Mayor, with Council

         23  Member Gennaro's participation, Speaker Quinn's

         24  participation, just created a sustainability

         25  advisory board.  Our goals, with respect to
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          2  sustainability in all of its elements, including

          3  green buildings, are very ambitious.  And again, if

          4  you're thinking about creating a new era area, and

          5  you're doing it and you've made a commitment to

          6  sustainability, it would be horribly inconsistent

          7  not to see the highest standards probably anywhere

          8  in this area.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And I

         10  hope you have small businesses in the plan.  I

         11  assume you do.

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: We don't have

         13  a specific plan yet for small businesses.  We have a

         14  commitment to minority and women- owned businesses.

         15  We certainly made a commitment in terms of

         16  construction activity  and  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.  When

         18  it's all done. Small business.  Just  --

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well they're

         20  clearly  -- the vast majority of businesses in this

         21  area will end up being small businesses.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         24  Member.  I want to thank the Deputy Mayor and the

         25  Budget Director for coming. I assume, if we have any
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          2  further questions, either orally or in writing, we

          3  can submit them, and have communication from your

          4  offices?

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Again, I'm sure

          7  you're always going to be available to meet with any

          8  Council Member.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Pretty much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  You'll

         11  make every effort.

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Every effort

         13  will be made.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We have a number

         19  of other witnesses to testify.  I'm going to read

         20  off the order, and if anybody wants to come back

         21  later, they're welcome to do that. Because we do

         22  have a number of witnesses.  I'm going to read the

         23  order that it's scheduled for right now.  We have

         24  Gene Russianoff, from the Straphangers Campaign.

         25  Followed by George Sweeting, Deputy Director of IBO.
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          2  Followed by James Parrott, from the Fiscal Policy

          3  Institute.  Followed by John Raskin, from Housing

          4  Conservative.  Followed by Anna Levin and Kathleen

          5  Treat, from Hell's Kitchen Hudson Yards Alliance.

          6  Followed by Jonathan Bowels, from the Center for

          7  Urban Futures.  And followed by Christine Berthet,

          8  from CHEKPEDS.  If there's anybody's name I didn't

          9  read off who would like to testify, please fill out

         10  a form and submit it to the Sergeant- at- Arms.

         11  Well now hear from Gene Russianoff.  And Chair White

         12  would like to make a statement as Mr. Russianoff is

         13  coming up.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you Mr.

         15  Chairman.  I would like to apologize to those

         16  individuals who are coming in to testify at this

         17  particular time.  I have a meeting over in my office

         18  at one o'clock.  So if you will excuse me, I will go

         19  and take care of that.  And I will be back as soon

         20  as I possibly can.  I ask for your understanding.

         21  Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Chair

         23  White.  Mr. Russianoff, do you have a prepared

         24  testimony?  Is it being distributed?

         25                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thank you Mr.
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          2  Chairman.  Mr. Chairman.  And Members of the

          3  Committee and staff.  I have a written statement,

          4  and I know there are many people who are also

          5  scheduled to speak, so I'll be brief.

          6                 In our view, the deal has both good

          7  news and bad news for transit riders.  I think the

          8  good news is that there's going to be a generally

          9  open bidding process for both Eastern and Western

         10  Yards.  And in my testimony, I sort of lay out what

         11  I think are the good processes that are here,

         12  including eventual Council approval of the deal.

         13  But I would stress that our hope is that open

         14  bidding will result in both a fair market value

         15  price to the MTA, as well as it resulting in

         16  development that also respects community needs.

         17                 As a transit advocate, the

         18  Straphangers Campaign knows there's a desperate need

         19  for capital funds, indeed, they have a billion

         20  dollars in the current five- year capital plan,

         21  based on a sale of assets.  But it is counter

         22  productive to propose development projects that meet

         23  major community opposition.  I would stress as an

         24  example, the Coliseum site, which was a site jointly

         25  owned by the City and by the MTA.  Initially, a
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          2  project was opposed, that has garnered tremendous

          3  community opposition.  And there was a lawsuit.  And

          4  by the time the dust cleared almost a decade has

          5  gone by before the MTA realized the $345 million it

          6  wanted for the project.  So it's just good sense to

          7  have a process that respects both needs.

          8                 For us the bad news of the proposed

          9  deal is that subway and bus riders would be left

         10  holding the bag for any cost over- runs on the

         11  Number Seven.  The deal generally caps the City's

         12  financial responsibility at $2.1 billion for the

         13  Seven extension, but an MTA committee reported

         14  recently that the full project cost is already $53

         15  million greater than that, at $2.153 billion.  That

         16  $53 million is money that the MTA has already spent

         17  on an environmental impact statement for the project

         18  and preliminary engineering.

         19                 In addition, there is an unfortunate

         20  but not surprising track record of cost over- runs

         21  at the MTA.  The MTA is already $2.4 billion over

         22  budget on this current expansion project, according

         23  to State Comptroller Alan Hevesi.

         24                 Why shouldn't the City agree to pay

         25  legitimate additional costs such as increases in
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          2  materials, labor, or other unforeseen construction

          3  issues?  I'm told that the deal will hold the MTA

          4  harmless for increases in land acquisition costs.

          5  But I've gone over the document again and again, as

          6  have MTA members.  And when this was discussed at

          7  the MTA Board, the City assured the MTA that the

          8  language will be given to them that would make it

          9  clear that it's the City's responsibility.

         10                 In one of the projects going on now,

         11  the Fulton Street Transit Center, I think there's

         12  more than $100 million in land acquisition costs

         13  that were not originally projected by the MTA.

         14                 Anyway, if this occurs, if there are

         15  major cost over- runs, and the City's liability is

         16  capped, the MTA risks a zero sum game.  The agency

         17  gets $200 million for selling air rights at the

         18  Eastern Yards, then risks spending more than that to

         19  finish the Number Seven.

         20                 It's also unclear who is responsible

         21  for the second station.  I noted that Deputy Mayor

         22  Doctoroff said that, we'll get to that  --   we will

         23  cross that bridge when we come to it.  We'll find

         24  some other capital funds that will cover the cost of

         25  the second station.  But will those capital funds
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          2  come out of the pocket of transit riders?  Or will

          3  they be financed by the City, whose project this is?

          4

          5                 The cupboards are bare at the MTA.

          6  The MTA projects operating deficits of $1.3 billion

          7  for 2008; $1.8 billion for 2009; and $2.2 billion

          8  for 2010.  Some in the City argue that it will have

          9  to pony up more money if there are cost over- runs,

         10  because it badly wants the project.  However, that

         11  bumps up against the reality of an MTA greatly

         12  dependent on City funding and political support.

         13                 And last, I would just note that if

         14  you look at the agreements between the City and the

         15  MTA, there are specific provisions to go to an

         16  arbitrator when there are differences about how much

         17  certain pieces of property are valued.  And that

         18  kind of arbitration process, where there's a

         19  standard that guarantees the MTA won't be left

         20  holding the bag on the Seven, would in my view, be a

         21  good addition to the agreement.

         22                 Thank you very much for the

         23  opportunity to speak.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Gene.

         25  And I really mean that.  Because you showed up at
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          2  this hearing.  And you know, I'm sitting here, and I

          3  am in shock and awe that the Straphangers Campaign

          4  is basically testifying in defense of the MTA.  As

          5  it relates to the financial risk on the project.  On

          6  the Seven Train extension.  And first of all, it is

          7  absolutely unacceptable that the MTA is not here

          8  today, that they have fully been invited, and this

          9  goes beyond just more than chutzpa.  It is sheer

         10  arrogance that the authority is not here testifying

         11  on one of the most important plans that the City has

         12  that involves the MTA.  And has the assent of the

         13  MTA.

         14                 Now why  --  and I certainly don't

         15  mean to put you in the shoes of the MTA, Gene,

         16  because you don't represent the MTA in any way.  And

         17  in fact, you have been a long- time critic, and I

         18  think the MTA has benefitted from the things that

         19  you've pointed out that they can do better.  But

         20  your testimony also talks about why this is

         21  potentially a risky or a bad deal for the MTA.  So

         22  it's not up to the City to come up with the best

         23  deal for the MTA, it's up to the City to come up

         24  with the best deal for the City, which, in this

         25  case, it seems the City has done.  At least with

                                                            78

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  regard to the risk involved.  So what you're saying

          3  here though, in your testimony, is that  --  the way

          4  I read it  --  is that it's a direct criticism of

          5  the MTA Board for even accepting the deal.

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, it's not

          7  surprising that I think they could have done much

          8  better than they did.  It's the City's project.

          9  This project was nowhere near considered in their

         10  20- year Capital Needs Plan.  Second Avenue Subway,

         11  East Side Access, the Downtown projects.  Those were

         12  their priorities.  And groups like mine fear that if

         13  it comes to a financial crisis, then other projects

         14  will suffer because of this one.

         15                 And in my view, it's not in the

         16  City's interest either.  Maybe you cut a deal now

         17  that you think is a good bargain for you, but it's

         18  your constituents who ride the subways and the

         19  buses, and pay the fares.  And I guess it's my job

         20  to connect this project to the fact that there may

         21  be pressure.  A major reason why the MTA's budget is

         22  going up so much is it borrowed billions of dollars

         23  to do the rebuilding projects it has in the hopper.

         24  And I just don't want to see that agency burdened

         25  seriously with this project.  And again, they could
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          2  spend $200 million on  --  they could get $200

          3  million for the transferable rights for the Eastern

          4  Yards, and then it's extremely   --  it's

          5  predictable, and almost likely that they're going to

          6  have a couple of hundred million dollars deficit.

          7  And mind you, they're already $53 million over what

          8  the City will cap this project at.  And so, the MTA

          9  has already spent $53 million in extending the

         10  Number Seven, which was never their project.  It was

         11  always the City's.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well I think

         13  notwithstanding the short- term good news, that even

         14  Chairman Callico said there doesn't seem to  --  it

         15  doesn't seem that a fare hike is necessary in 2007.

         16  I think the MTA Board members, the staff, many

         17  people, including your organization, our Council

         18  Committee here, will recognize that there are large

         19  deficits moving in the out years, '08, '09, and

         20  beyond.

         21                 So if this is so risky, why would the

         22  MTA Board accept this?  Are they being

         23  irresponsible?

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I just don't think

         25  they felt to be themselves, the great bargaining
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          2  position.  The agency frequently --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Wait.  They are

          4  not in a good bargaining position?  Or they are in a

          5  good  --

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Maybe I misstated

          7  that.  The Governor and Mayor wanted them to do

          8  this, so they did it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So for an

         10  authority that was created to be somewhat insulated

         11  from political pressure, that they were set up as a

         12  separate state authority, they are now succumbing to

         13  a great deal of this political pressure.

         14                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: If you look at the

         15  history of this piece of land, the Mayor and

         16  Governor told them to sell it to the Jets.  And they

         17  did sell it to the Jets.  And then that was

         18  countermanded, and now they're doing the next step

         19  that the City and the State want.

         20                 My view, I think the final deal you

         21  have before you is a bit better than the one they

         22  initially were going to agree to, which was $300

         23  million for the Western Rail Yards.  And only time

         24  will tell whether the fact that this is going to be

         25  done through open bidding.  You know, we'll have to
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          2  come back a decade from now to see whether the MTA

          3  realized real money, and whether anything has

          4  happened at the site.  And whether there's been a

          5  big battle with community opposition over it.

          6                 But anyway, I stick by what I said.

          7  They basically did as they were told.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So you're not  --

          9    and you can just smile and not say anything, and

         10  I'll move on, okay?  Because I'm not trying to put

         11  you in a bad position, Gene.  It's not mismanagement

         12  or bad financial decision making on the part of the

         13  MTA Board.  It's just that they're caving in to

         14  pressure from the Governor and Mayor.

         15                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Smile.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  All right.

         17    And then, of course, the big question is that it's

         18  not just about them caving in to political pressure

         19  on this project.  It then becomes, well how do all

         20  of the other MTA priorities get laid out?  And when

         21  they claim deficits, which budgets get cut?  Another

         22  smile.

         23                 All right. Well we have questions

         24  from Council Member Sears, and then Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.
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          2  Chair.  Good afternoon.  It's good to see you again.

          3                 Just a very brief thing, and you

          4  touched on it.  And one of the questions that I let

          5  go with Doctoroff was that the MTA's capital budget,

          6  although certain debt is not what is being taken

          7  into this project, but they're giving $2.1 billion,

          8  and the City is going to give that back, East Side

          9  Access has been going on for a long time.  I would

         10  think it's probably the costliest they've had.  And

         11  the cost over- runs on that have been huge.  My

         12  concern about this is that the MTA is so stretched

         13  out with its capital projects, as evidenced by East

         14  Side Access, which started some time ago, where

         15  they've had a lot of cost over- runs on that for

         16  different reasons, that the MTA  --  and I'm asking

         17  you  --  the MTA would have to pick up the costs of

         18  the  --  somehow meeting the over- runs of this

         19  project.  That if 2.1 isn't sufficient, and they're

         20  responsible for the Number Seven extension, it has

         21  to cut into their other capital projects.  Or to

         22  slow down the construction of the Number Seven,

         23  which would be devastating, and I don't see that

         24  happening.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well actually
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          2  two things. For the Number Seven, I am very worried

          3  that the MTA will be liable for the cost over- runs.

          4    But if you read the agreement, it's unclear about

          5  who will pay if there are over- runs.  I think  --

          6  and it was told by both parties that they left that

          7  issue silent in the agreement.  I think that in the

          8  end, it leaves the MTA and its riders holding the

          9  bag.  But there might be a fight over the Line. I

         10  suppose the MTA could just throw down their wrenches

         11  and walk away from the project if it's going to cost

         12  more money than they have.

         13                 And the other thing I would say is,

         14  as a transit advocate, you know, I've seen many

         15  projects recommended for the region.  Many of them

         16  good.  But what we've lacked over the last dozen

         17  years or so is a sense of priority.  About which one

         18  gets built first, about how we phase them in.  And

         19  so as a result, they all move forward in a herky-

         20  jerky way, and I don't think that's good for this

         21  City in the long run.  But each project has its

         22  political rabbi, and that results in what happens

         23  And so, at the moment, the Number Seven appears to

         24  have shot out ahead of the other ones.  But we will

         25  see.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I think what

          3  proves what you just said is what happened to

          4  airport access.  And when one Administration is in

          5  Albany, and another came in, that entire project was

          6  defeated.  It was to take the link, JFK and

          7  LaGuardia, over the 59th Street Bridge, and use the

          8     --  I mean, it was a marvelous project.  And to

          9  use the old Alexander site as their underground

         10  terminal.  That was totally abandoned with a new

         11  Administration.  So what seems to be really kind of

         12  key here is how they could lock in this mammoth

         13  undertaking on the West Side, which should be done.

         14  We have not developed the West Side as it should be,

         15  and it's time that we turn our faces to that.  I

         16  don't know how you lock in a long- term commitment

         17  when you change Administrations. The project is to

         18  be completed in 2012?  This Administration will be

         19  out by 2009.  Which means it has an additional three

         20  years to go.  And anything can happen in that time.

         21                 So I thank you for your comments, and

         22  I think as Transportation Chair, you need to look at

         23  what happens with the continuation of this.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council
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          2  Member Sears. Council Member Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

          4  Thank you, Gene also.  My question is, so do you  --

          5    most of the project's capital in the MTA have cost

          6  over- runs, right?  Is that  --

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: East Side

          8  Access went from $4.3 billion to $6.3 billion since

          9  2004.  The Fulton Street Transit Center went up

         10  about $150 million in their last estimate.  And the

         11  Second Avenue subway has experienced some cost over-

         12  runs.  And as I said, Hevesi thought it added up to

         13  about $2.4 billion in cost over- runs.  So it's a

         14  pretty  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Standard.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Pretty

         17  standard.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And

         19  then the other issue, of course, is the second

         20  subway station, which I guess those are the two

         21  issues, the cost over- run, and who is going to pay

         22  for that, and who is going to pay for the second

         23  station.  So together, that adds up.

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: That adds up

         25  to a lot.  And the agreement is completely silent
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          2  about it.  They said they're going to find the

          3  capital money, but they don't say who or when, or

          4  how.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And

          6  then just finally, is there anything that  --  it

          7  sounds to me like this subway station  --  this

          8  subway project is going to go forward.  Does it

          9  sound as if there's anything in it  --  obviously, I

         10  have an interest in the technology portion  --  but

         11  is there anything in it that could be used to apply

         12  to some systemwide improvements?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I think the

         14  major intent is economic development.  And you know,

         15  I don't opine one way or another.  There are a lot

         16  of arguments for and against that.  It will cost the

         17  MTA, because no subway is operated  --  I mean, in

         18  terms of its daily operation.  They're all operated

         19  at a loss.  And I think at the very beginning, there

         20  will be a substantial loss, because the area will be

         21  quite undeveloped, and you won't have a very big

         22  ridership base.  I notice that in a New York Times

         23  editorial approving of the project, they talked

         24  about how the MTA would be able to use the revenue

         25  from this extension for improvements.  But it's just
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          2  the opposite.  They're going to have to subsidize

          3  the line.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you Mr.

          5  Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  And

          7  just one final question Gene.  So the City argues

          8  that the subway line pays for itself.  That's why

          9  they're able to do this.  That without the subway

         10  extension, the development would not take off.  But

         11  with the subway extension, the development would

         12  take off.  And the City would generate more than  --

         13    more revenue than the amount of money it costs to

         14  build the subway line.  Is that something  --  isn't

         15  that a strong argument for going ahead with the

         16  extension?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: Well I  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Not withstanding

         19  that there are other needs in the system.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: As I

         21  understand the City's position, also is the value of

         22  the land will increase because of this new

         23  improvement there, and that will be a benefit to the

         24  MTA. And I'm not criticizing the City.  I only think

         25  time will tell the market, and what other
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          2  competition there is for attracting developers.

          3  Only time will tell whether the MTA will get

          4  additional revenue.  I would say that one of my

          5  hopes is that  -- I mean I hope that works out.  I

          6  hope that the MTA  --  this is a source of revenue

          7  which helps rebuild the system.  I would hope there

          8  would be some recurring revenue for the MTA, whether

          9  it's by a lease of some of this property, and their

         10  getting ongoing payments.  Because the bottom line

         11  is they need a tremendous amount of capital funds,

         12  both to service what  they've already purchased, and

         13  for new improvements in the future.  And so one

         14  shots are great, like Westway, or  --  but they're

         15  only one shots.  So we hope for recurring revenues.

         16  And so I hope that you know, the project is a

         17  success.  Both generating revenue for the MTA and

         18  producing something that's good for the City and the

         19  community. Because I think those two things are

         20  pretty much identical interests.  And I'm encouraged

         21  by the City's involvement in this. I think left only

         22  to the MTA, there would be legitimate concerns about

         23  whether those community interests were really

         24  recognized by them.  And previous plans by the MTA

         25  have been  --  proposals in the '80s for the same

                                                            89

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  exact portion, have been very dense.  And

          3  undoubtedly, did not look very attractive to many of

          4  the community interests.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What about other

          6  parts of the City that might be able to benefit from

          7   --

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR DOCTOROFF: I heard your

          9  question.  I don't know if I have anything right now

         10  to offer to that.  That's a very good question.  I

         11  just don't know.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Thank you

         13  Gene.

         14                 The next person we'll hear from is

         15  George Sweeting, the Deputy Director of the

         16  Independent Budget Office.  To be followed by James

         17  Parrott, from the Fiscal Policy Institute.

         18                 Hello Dr. Parrott.  Please proceed.

         19  I mean.  You jumped down.  It's misleading.

         20                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Good

         21  afternoon.  I wouldn't want to try to fill James's

         22  shoes.  Yes, first of all, I'm George Sweeting.  I'm

         23  Deputy Director of the New York City Independent

         24  Budget Office.  And Chairman Liu, and I guess

         25  Council Member Brewer, and  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Everyone is still

          3  here in spirit.

          4                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Okay.  We

          5  welcome the opportunity to appear before you on

          6  these important questions.  I would begin just by

          7  noting that you know, obviously, there's a lot to

          8  say about Hudson Yards.  But a lot of those

          9  decisions have been made already, and I'm not going

         10  to focus on sort of the bigger, broader questions

         11  regarding Hudson Yards.  I do want to focus on two

         12  issues that come out of the most recent set of

         13  agreements.

         14                 The first relates to the level of the

         15  tax incentives that are being offered to support the

         16  financing plan for the Hudson Yards development.

         17  This Summer, when the Industrial Development Agency

         18  approved a set of tax incentives to be used in

         19  Hudson Yards, IBO noted that important questions

         20  about the financing plan remained unanswered, and

         21  that too little information was available to know if

         22  the proposed incentives were being set at the

         23  appropriate level.

         24                 The fate of the Rail Yards, which was

         25  one of the questions we considered open, has now
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          2  been answered.  And it's answered in a way that

          3  reduces the need for such generous tax incentives.

          4  My testimony will also briefly consider the terms of

          5  the deal for the MTA and the lack of a firm

          6  commitment to cover cost over- runs.  We've heard a

          7  lot about that already today.

          8                 Let me begin with the Hudson Yards

          9  tax incentives. The new agreement between the MTA

         10  and the City will result in additional revenue to

         11  Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation.

         12  Strengthening the security of the infrastructure

         13  bonds that the corporation will sell to finance its

         14  $2 billion contribution for the Number Seven, and

         15  for other infrastructure in the Hudson Yards area.

         16  HYIC, which is the Infrastructure Corporation, will

         17  now receive payment in lieu of taxes from

         18  development on the western portion of the Rail Yard.

         19    HYIC was already scheduled to receive PILOT from

         20  the Eastern Rail Yard.

         21                 The amount of new revenue will not be

         22  known until the design guidelines and the rezoning

         23   --  which there's a commitment to do that through

         24  the regular ULURP process  --  are completed for the

         25  western portion of the Rail Yards, and the developer
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          2  is selected.  But assuming the zoning is similar to

          3  that adopted for the eastern portion of the Rail

          4  Yard, it is likely that PILOT revenues will be at

          5  least ten percent higher than was anticipated as

          6  recently as this Summer.

          7                 The stream of PILOT revenue that will

          8  be available to meet Hudson Yard's debt service

          9  expenses has also been increased by the recent

         10  agreement with the Javits Center Development

         11  Corporation.  The developer chosen to build the

         12  mixed- use project on the block between Javits and

         13  the Western Rail Yard will now make PILOT payments

         14  to the Hudson Yards Infrastructure Corporation.

         15                 With additional Hudson Yards PILOT

         16  revenue, and continued evidence of a resurgent

         17  office market, it seems prudent to reexamine the

         18  assumptions behind the property tax discounts that

         19  will be offered in Hudson Yards, under the policy

         20  that was adopted by the Industrial Development

         21  Agency in July.  I apologize, it says "authority",

         22  but that should say "agency".  The extent of the tax

         23  incentives offered is directly tied to the Hudson

         24  Yards financing plan.  Although the City has

         25  committed to providing interests costs in the early
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          2  years of the projects, while the development gets

          3  underway, the plan's ultimate financial success

          4  depends upon the extent to which developers choose

          5  to build in Hudson Yards, and over the Rail Yards.

          6  Tax incentives are being used to help attract

          7  developers to the area, to ensure that there will be

          8  sufficient PILOT revenue to service the

          9  infrastructure bonds.

         10                 At the time of the IDA Board meeting

         11  in the Summer, IBO noted that there were a number of

         12  questions that remained unanswered, that could

         13  influence the appropriate level of tax incentives.

         14  Including the fate of the Rail Yards.  That

         15  question, at least, has now been answered in a way

         16  that implies more revenue for HYIC, greater security

         17  for the bonds, and therefore, less need for such

         18  substantial tax incentives throughout the area.

         19                 Just briefly on the MTA, because

         20  there's already been a lot of discussion about the

         21  cost over- runs.  I would note that you know, the

         22  agreement provides $2 billion towards the cost of

         23  the Number Seven, and there's a provision for $100

         24  million if there are cost over- runs.  What is less

         25  clear is what happens if the project costs more than

                                                            94

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TRANSPORTATION

          2  expected.  Except in the case of a change in the

          3  overall project scope, there is no commitment from

          4  the City to cover additional costs.  The outcome

          5  where the MTA was forced to absorb some or all of

          6  any cost over- runs above the $2.1 billion provided

          7  through the current agreements, could  --  and I

          8  emphasize "could"  --  result in diversion of

          9  funding from other projects in the MTA capital plan,

         10  several of which the MTA ranked as more important

         11  than the Number Seven.

         12                 And the likelihood of cost over- runs

         13  is high. Consider that the estimated cost of the

         14  Number Seven extension was $1.9 billion in 2004.

         15  That's from the EIS work that was done in 2004,

         16  before the zoning resolution in January of 2005.  At

         17  that time, construction was assumed to begin in

         18  Fiscal Year 2005.  Two years later, the projected

         19  cost has barely changed.  However, a recent report

         20  by the New York Building Congress noted that

         21  construction costs in the City have been recently

         22  rising at rates well above the long- term annual

         23  average, which was  --  the long term average is

         24  just under six percent.  In 2005, construction costs

         25  rose by nine percent.  In this year, they're
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          2  increasing at a rate of one percent per month.  With

          3  construction now expected to begin two years later

          4  than originally anticipated, and costs rising well

          5  above the long- term average rate, it is surprising

          6  that the cost estimate has barely changed.

          7                 So summarize, now that we see that

          8  the Hudson Yards tax incentive decision was made

          9  before important decisions were resolved, it seems

         10  reasonable to reconsider whether the tax discounts

         11  really are at an appropriate level.

         12                 As for the MTA, while an open bidding

         13  process may well bring the authority a higher price

         14  than it would have obtained from the City, the lack

         15  of a firm commitment from the City if costs

         16  escalate, could end up drawing upon funds already

         17  allocated to other transit capital projects.

         18                 Again, thank you for the opportunity

         19  to testify. And I'd be happy to answer any questions

         20  you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Mr.

         22  Sweeting.  So you're basically saying that the  --

         23  with regard to the PILOT  -- the changes in the

         24  PILOTs, and with the financing, it's a stronger

         25  financing now.  It's a surer financing for the
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          2  project.

          3                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: It appears

          4  to be.  I mean, it appears that there will be

          5  additional revenue  --  additional PILOT revenue

          6  available, that wasn't counted on when the current

          7  set of discounts were agreed upon over the Summer.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  And that

          9   --  I would argue that that's because there's been

         10  more openness introduced into the process, that

         11  resulted in people just making that extra effort to

         12  make sure things are sound financially.

         13                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Well,

         14  there's a little more information available now than

         15  there was when the earlier decisions were made.  On

         16  the other hand, now that we see what will be

         17  available as PILOT revenue  --  I'm not  --  we're

         18  not in a position to say that this means the

         19  discount rate that they're offering is too low or

         20  too high.  We're saying we don't know.  But the

         21  assumptions have changed, and there might be a

         22  reason to think again about it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. And

         24  earlier, I had asked the Deputy Mayor and the Budget

         25  Director if there was any idea what the  --  you
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          2  know, they talked about the increased revenues that

          3  the City would realize over the next 25 years,

          4  perhaps in perpetuity.  But they  --  for some

          5  reason, they didn't want to give a ballpark of what

          6  that value is today.  Do you care to take a venture?

          7                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Yes, I'm

          8  not in a position to say what it would be.  It's

          9  worth noting a couple of things.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do you think it's

         11  substantially more than $3 billion?

         12                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: I think

         13  eventually it will be substantially more.  There's

         14   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No no.  I mean,

         16  it's not eventually.  Today.  Do you think it's  --

         17  do you think the net present value today is  --

         18                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: The net

         19  present value from today should well exceed the cost

         20  of the investment.  I think the numbers that you  --

         21    that get used, one of the questions you want to

         22  pay attention to, is if you say how much new tax

         23  revenue  -- you know, incremental tax revenue  --

         24  will result in the next 25 years, it's important to

         25  pay attention to how much of that is coming from
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          2  property tax.  And I think I heard the Deputy Mayor

          3  indicate that the property tax number he was

          4  counting there included the PILOT payments.  Most of

          5  the PILOT payment money in the first 25 years, a

          6  substantial portion of it, is going to go to retire

          7  the bonds.  It's not money coming into the City

          8  general fund.  Eventually,   --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, but the

         10  bonds are used to pay for the $3 billion investment.

         11

         12                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Yes, but

         13  there's not  -- it's not  --  that's not new tax

         14  revenue to the City while that money is being used

         15  to retire those bonds.  Eventually, the agreement

         16   --  under the terms of the agreement, once the

         17  bonds are retired, then the money goes to the City.

         18  Until you reach that point, the money is not going

         19  to the City general fund.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And are these 30-

         21  year bonds?

         22                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: You know,

         23  they haven't gone to market yet.  I think the

         24  assumptions, when the numbers were one, it's almost

         25  two years ago now, that they were 30- year bonds.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So they have a

          3  set of 30- year bonds that will be used to finance

          4  the infrastructure improvements, most of which will

          5  be the subway extension.

          6                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Subway and

          7  then  --  yes, there's substantial amount of other

          8  things they're doing.  There's also  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well according to

         10  their own testimony, about $900 million of other

         11  improvements.

         12                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: That's

         13  almost a third of the addition  --  a third of the

         14  money will be going for other things.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So does that mean

         16    --  I mean, the 30  --  the PILOTs are going to be

         17  used  --  are all of the PILOTs going to be used to

         18  retire the bonds?

         19                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So that means for

         21  the first  -- assuming the bonds are out there for

         22  30 years, the City is not actually going to realize

         23  anything for the first 30 years?

         24                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: No.  Well I

         25  believe that the  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Except of course,

          3  with a new subway extension and the other

          4  infrastructure.

          5                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: But it also

          6  depends on how much development occurs.  You know,

          7  if you get a lot of development very quickly, then

          8  there will be enough PILOT revenue generated, you

          9  know, say within 15- 2- years, to begin  --  you

         10  know, to cover all of that fee outstanding debt

         11  service.  And leave some money to come back to the

         12  City.  It's difficult to say exactly when that point

         13  occurs, because you have to make assumptions about

         14  how quickly the development occurs.

         15                 The other thing is you know, there is

         16  additional tax revenue that's generated to the City

         17  other than property tax.  You know, and I'm sure

         18  that's included in their $25 billion number, and

         19  it's appropriate to include it.  You know, they'll

         20  be new business income tax, to the extent that

         21  you're creating  --  you're actually retaining jobs

         22  in the City, or building on the job base in the

         23  City.  They'll be new income tax.  New sales tax

         24  from you know, transactions that occur there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And has the IBO
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          2  looked at whether this  --  I mean I understand what

          3  you're saying.  It sounds like you look at the

          4  project by itself, it's a sound project.  From a

          5  monetary and financial point of view.  Except for

          6  some questions about the MTA taking on additional

          7  risk.  But it sounds to me like the IBO is saying

          8  this is a pretty decent project.

          9                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: Well no.  I

         10  wouldn't  -- first of all, the IBO wouldn't say yes

         11  or no on any project. That's not what we   --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No.  And no one

         13  asked the IBO yes or no.  But people do look to the

         14  IBO for an opinion about the financial soundness  --

         15                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: And I think

         16  if one of the --  I don't know if you recall, but

         17  approximately two years ago, shortly before the

         18  Council enacted the rezoning, we did a paper, a

         19  report, that was quite critical of the financing

         20  plan as it was proposed at that time.  We calculated

         21  that it greatly increased the costs to do the

         22  financing the way they intended to do it.  The

         23  Council and the Administration, working together,

         24  significantly improved the financing plan.  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Oh good.  That's
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          2  what I was trying to get at before.  You said it.

          3                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: And reduce

          4  the cost.  You know, I think some of the  --  the

          5  other issue that we're raising today concerning the

          6  tax incentives, that, in some ways, is an issue for

          7  the rest of the City, at least as much as for what

          8  happens in the Hudson Yards, because it affects the

          9  market for development elsewhere in the City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well yes.  Which

         11  is what my last question is, is that has the IBO

         12  looked at whether  --  or to what extent this

         13  project  --  even though it sounds good financially,

         14  on its own, it may displace or siphon economic

         15  activity from other places in the City, whether they

         16  are  --  whether they currently exist and are

         17  active, or other development sites in the City that

         18  are still in the proposal stage.

         19                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: We haven't

         20  looked at that specifically.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Is that a

         22  wild and crazy thought?  Or could that actually be a

         23  concern?

         24                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: You know,

         25  at the moment, the demand for new office space  --
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          2  and that's most of what's going to be developed in

          3  the Hudson Yards.  I mean, there's a significant

          4  amount of housing, but an awful lot of it is  --  a

          5  lot of the focus is to create a new office district.

          6    And you know, there's evidence that there's a lot

          7  of demand for new office space in the City.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  Council

          9  Member Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do your

         11  numbers, regarding the MTA, take into account the

         12  second subway station?

         13                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR SWEETING: They do

         14  not, because  -- I would point out that even you

         15  know, back in January of 2005 when the Council

         16  acted, at that time, there was no commitment to pay

         17  for the second station.  That was left as an open

         18  question.  It's been an open question for several

         19  years in the planning process here.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Council

         23  Member Brewer. And thank you Mr. Sweeting.

         24                 We'll now hear from Dr. James

         25  Parrott, from the Fiscal Policy Institute.  Followed
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          2  by John Raskin, Housing Conservative.

          3                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR PARROTT: Good

          4  afternoon.  Thank you for inviting me to appear this

          5  afternoon and comment.  And thanks for your

          6  perseverance through this extended discussion.  I

          7  have written testimony, which I won't go through

          8  entirely.  Let me just hit the highlights of this.

          9                 Among other things, this agreement

         10  sets in motion, a process in which the Mayor and the

         11  City Council will play a critical role in

         12  determining what will be built on the West Rail

         13  Yards.  It would be preferable, in our view, if all

         14  of the large development projects around the City

         15  involve such  --  involved some type of joint role

         16  between the City Council and the Mayor.

         17                 The one major concern we have about

         18  the agreement is what's been mentioned before about

         19  the prospect of what happens if there are cost over-

         20  runs that exceed the $2.1 billion limit of the

         21  City's funding commitment?  As Gene Russianoff spoke

         22  to the MTA's finances are not in a condition to

         23  absorb any significant amount of cost over- runs.

         24                 The agreement also modifies the

         25  Hudson Yard's financing, as previously approved by
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          2  the Council and the New York City IDA.  I've

          3  attached our testimony from this past August before

          4  the IDA regarding the far- reaching tax breaks

          5  authorized under the Uniform Tax Exemption Policy

          6  for the Hudson Yards area.  So I won't go through

          7  that this afternoon.

          8                 I would like to return, however, to a

          9  suggestion that we and others made to the IDA, to

         10  link the Hudson Yards tax breaks to strategies and

         11  programs to establish wage standards and workforce

         12  investment commitments.  The City's number one

         13  economic development goal should be to provide

         14  quality jobs and economic opportunities for New York

         15  City residents.  The City needs to start using its

         16  considerable economic development leverage to focus

         17  on the human capital investments and inducements

         18  needed to raise wages and provide better career

         19  opportunities for all New Yorkers.

         20                 There are several ways the Council

         21  could proceed on this.  As a first step, the Council

         22  could work with the Mayor and the IDA to modify the

         23  Hudson Yards tax exemption policy to require, in

         24  exchange for the tax breaks, that developers commit

         25  to paying living wages and decent benefits to all
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          2  service workers in Hudson Yards office buildings.

          3  The bedrock principle here is that taxpayer

          4  subsidies should support the creation of good jobs

          5  and career opportunities for all New Yorkers.

          6                 The Hudson Yards will be a showcase

          7  for New York, as a 21st century office environment.

          8  However, it is likely that the jobs in this office

          9  district of the future will be concentrated at the

         10  two ends of the income spectrum.  The Council should

         11  ensure that the Hudson Yards becomes an example of a

         12  City- created micro economy where high end jobs go

         13  hand in hand with decent living standards for

         14  workers at the other end of the income spectrum.

         15                 Linking real estate development to

         16  decent labor standards is hardly new, whether around

         17  the country or in New York. In my testimony, I cite

         18  an excellent source that Good Jobs First has put out

         19  and updates on a regular basis, that cites a lot of

         20  these examples around the country.  Within New York

         21  State, you're probably aware that the city of

         22  Rochester and Westchester in Suffolk Counties, as

         23  part of their living wage ordinances, require

         24  companies receiving subsidies for economic

         25  development purposes, to pay their workers wages in
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          2  the nine to ten dollar range.  And higher, if they

          3  do not provide health insurance.  New York State, as

          4  part of its Empire Zone Program, requires companies

          5  to pay a minimum wage of 35 percent above the

          6  minimum wage, as a condition for receiving the full

          7  wage tax credit.  And in New York City, just in the

          8  past two years, the City has required prevailing

          9  wage for building service workers in a 2005

         10  agreement with several residential developers in

         11  Greenpoint- Williamsburg.  And the recently-

         12  announced Request for Proposals for the Kingsbridge

         13  Armory development in the Bronx, included provisions

         14  supporting the creation of living wage jobs, defined

         15  by the City's Living Wage ordinance, as paying at

         16  least ten dollars an hour and providing health

         17  benefits.

         18                 The Council could also consider using

         19  workforce development resource commitments from

         20  Hudson Yards office developers to fund workforce

         21  development, investments within and beyond Hudson

         22  Yards.

         23                 Some of the Hudson Yards PILOT

         24  revenues could be used to build on some of the

         25  promising initial steps taken by the City Council
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          2  and the City in recent years to construct career

          3  ladders and pathways for workers to acquire better

          4  skills and achieve better wages.

          5                 Since Hudson Yard's PILOT revenues,

          6  however, won't start flowing for a few years, the

          7  Mayor and the Council should also consider

          8  dedicating to worker investment some of the existing

          9  economic development PILOT revenues.  And future

         10  PILOT revenues from other projects.

         11                 As noted in our IDA testimony, the

         12  City now spends nearly $2 billion annually  --  $2

         13  billion annually, on economic development- related

         14  tax expenditures.  And it probably spends well under

         15  $100 million on workforce development.  The Hudson

         16  Yards tax breaks will make this an even more

         17  lopsided equation.

         18                 The recent report of the Mayor's

         19  Commission on Economic Opportunity, aka, the Poverty

         20  Commission, highlights the problem of the working

         21  poor and the importance of raising wages and

         22  building skills as a path out of poverty for low

         23  wage New Yorkers. Given the scope and visibility of

         24  the Hudson Yards redevelopment, linking City

         25  subsidies there to wage standards and workforce
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          2  investment opportunities would be an important

          3  action step forward in the City's quest to tackle

          4  poverty head on.

          5                 Thank you very much for the

          6  opportunity to testify.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Dr.

          8  Parrott for taking the time out to testify today.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Dr.

         10  Parrott, and we look forward to your testimony

         11  during the budget process that we know you're often

         12  a regular, commenting on various issues as they

         13  arise, and we appreciate that.

         14                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR PARROTT: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.  Next

         16  we will actually hear from Anna Levin, from Hell's

         17  Kitchen/Hudson Yards Alliance.  To be followed by

         18  John Raskin, from the Housing Conservation.

         19                 While Ms. Levin is preparing to

         20  testify, let me note for the record that we have

         21  received written testimony from Claudia Preparata,

         22  on behalf of the Transit Workers Union, Local 100,

         23  which essentially states that they are in support of

         24  the Seven Train extension, but have reservations

         25  about the lack of ownership over what happens when
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          2  there are cost over- runs.

          3                 We've also submitted written

          4  testimony from the Joint Council Member 16 of the

          5  International Brotherhood of Teamsters, AFL- CIO.

          6  And the written testimony is submitted by Gary

          7  LaBarbera, from Teamsters Joint Council 16.

          8                 Ms. Levin, please proceed.

          9                 MS. LEVIN: Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         10  Chairman Weprin. My name is Anna Levin.  I'm

         11  speaking today on behalf of the Hell's

         12  Kitchen/Hudson Yards Alliance, which is a community

         13  coalition that was originally formed to oppose a

         14  previous development plan for the West Rail Yards.

         15  And advocate a balanced alternative plan for the

         16  future of Hell's Kitchen South.  The alliance is

         17  composed of the neighborhood's elected officials,

         18  prominent community organizations, and individual

         19  community members, such as myself.

         20                 We're delighted that the City's

         21  agreement with the MTA recognizes that substantial

         22  planning, public outreach, and land use approval

         23  efforts must be undertaken in order to realize upon,

         24  and maximize the potential of the Rail Yard sites.

         25  That the agreement include the commitment that the
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          2  planning process will be led by the City, and will

          3  include a program of public outreach and

          4  consultation.  And finally, that the development

          5  will ultimately be subject to the City's ULURP

          6  process.

          7                 Hoping to get a few extra credit

          8  points today for being focused in my remarks, since

          9  ULURP means we'll be back, I will try to be as brief

         10  as I can.

         11                 I'd like to point out that a vehicle

         12  for the outreach and consultation that the agreement

         13  provides already exists with the Hudson Yards

         14  Community Advisory Committee, which as been formed

         15  pursuant to the points of agreement that was

         16  negotiated between the Council and the

         17  Administration, when the Hudson Yards rezoning was

         18  approved in January, 2005.  The Committee, whose

         19  membership overlaps significantly with the Alliance,

         20  stands ready to begin work on this important

         21  planning initiative.

         22                 In anticipation of our participation

         23  in the planning process, the Alliance wishes to

         24  restate its basic principles for a master plan for

         25  the West Rail Yards, which we developed last Summer,
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          2  when the previous development proposal collapsed.

          3  We believe that adherence to these principles will

          4  maximize the potential of the Rail Yard site to

          5  support the MTA's capital program, while encouraging

          6  sound growth and development in this under- utilized

          7  area.  A previous, and substantially identical

          8  version of these principles has been endorsed by

          9  Manhattan Community Board Number Four, and they'll

         10  be updating that endorsement as these principles

         11  develop.

         12                 I've submitted complete copies of the

         13  principles for the record, and they'll be available

         14  on Community Board Four's website in the next few

         15  days.  But here are the main points.

         16                 We believe that the development plan

         17  should be comprehensive and integrated for the

         18  entire Rail Yards.  That's both East and West.  The

         19  West Rail Yard should be devoted to mixed use,

         20  primarily residential development, with the

         21  commercial development concentrated along 11th

         22  Avenue, and density scaling downwards toward the

         23  Hudson River Park.

         24                 At least 30 percent of the housing,

         25  and a portion of the commercial development must be
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          2  permanently affordable to low, moderate, and middle

          3  income residents.  And to very low income New

          4  Yorkers with special needs.

          5                 As for open space, the portion of the

          6  site closest to the waterfront should be an upland

          7  extension of the Hudson River Park, connected to the

          8  existing park across Route 9A, and administered by

          9  the Hudson River Park Trust.  Additionally, open

         10  space throughout the site should be organized around

         11  a strong east/west access.  And the High Line

         12  structure north of 30th Street should be preserved.

         13  It should be fully connected with the Hudson River

         14  Park, and the proposed Hudson River Park extension.

         15                 Next, the development plan should

         16  include specific sites that are designated for

         17  public amenities, and the infrastructure that will

         18  be needed for this new community.  Some of this was

         19  identified in the EIS for the Hudson Yards.  Public

         20  schools, a police station, a fire station, a power

         21  substation, a library, and a day care facility.  Now

         22  is the time to plan for the location of those

         23  facilities.

         24                 The plan should also address our

         25  community's pressing need for below market space for
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          2  small, nonprofit theatrical and arts companies, and

          3  for support facilities for the performing arts,

          4  which is one of our neighborhood's strongest

          5  industries.

          6                 Transportation options should be

          7  explored that would connect the Rail Yards to

          8  Moynihan and Penn Stations, emphasizing the 34th

          9  Street east/west corridor.

         10                 The 950- space public parking garage

         11  that's planned beneath the proposed mid- block

         12  boulevard, between 34th and 36th Streets should be

         13  relocated to the West Rail Yards.

         14                 Construction and ongoing employment

         15  opportunities should be subject to strong labor

         16  provisions, and should maximize opportunities for

         17  minority and women- owned businesses.

         18                 Development on site, public and

         19  private, should be subject to high standards of

         20  green building practices and environmental

         21  sustainability.

         22                 And finally, development should

         23  reflect multiple vision, featuring a diversity of

         24  architectural styles and forms. The development plan

         25  must also be flexible and incremental so that
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          2  construction can advance in phases, and adapt to

          3  changing financial and political conditions over

          4  time.  It cannot depend on the success for failure

          5  of one big idea.

          6                 I'd also like to note in closing,

          7  that there's been discussion today about the $3

          8  billion financing plan.  A portion of that was to be

          9  the cost of construction of the platform over the

         10  Eastern Rail Yards.  The Deputy Mayor has testified

         11  that that portion of the plan is no longer

         12  necessary, so my question for you is, where the  --

         13  whether the $3 billion number is still correct? Or

         14  whether it gets reduced by the amount that was

         15  originally planned to be spent on the platform over

         16  the East Rail Yards? That's something that I hope

         17  you'll look into.  Thank you very much for the

         18  opportunity to testify.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you very

         20  much Ms. Levin. Next we'll hear from John Raskin,

         21  from Housing and Conservation.  Housing and

         22  Conservation Coordinators.  To be followed by

         23  Jonathan Bowels (phonetic) from the Center for Urban

         24  Future.

         25                 MR. RASKIN: Good morning.  I'm John
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          2  Raskin, from Housing Conservation Coordinators.  I

          3  want to thank you for sticking around.  I've had an

          4  anxiety dream in which I sit down to give testimony

          5  before the Council and all the Council Members are

          6  gone.  So thank you Chairman Liu, Chairman Weprin,

          7  and Council Member White.  I knew you'd never leave

          8  me.

          9                 I just wanted to expand on one of the

         10  points that Anna brought up, which is the affordable

         11  housing component of the development.  When Council

         12  Member James earlier asked Deputy Mayor Doctoroff

         13  what the plan was for affordable housing, and why it

         14  wasn't mentioned in the City's documents relating to

         15  the Rail Yard, the Deputy Mayor answered that you

         16  know, we had addressed that in the Hudson Yards

         17  plan.  I think it's valuable to use the Hudson Yards

         18  plan as a precedent for how the community and the

         19  City can work together to develop an affordable

         20  housing plan.  I think the Deputy Mayor is right on

         21  in that.  But I want to make sure that none of us

         22  are operating under the illusion that the Hudson

         23  Yards plan took care of all of the West Side's

         24  affordable housing needs.

         25                 In fact, we're expecting these Rail
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          2  Yards, in addition to producing all sorts of

          3  benefits for the City and for our community, to

          4  produce a significant amount of affordable housing

          5  for low, moderate, and middle income New Yorkers.  I

          6  can tell you that there is still an acute need for

          7  affordable housing on the West Side.

          8                 My organization provides legal

          9  representation and building organizing services for

         10  low income tenants.  And I can tell you that a lot

         11  of the tenants we work with are being pushed out of

         12  the neighborhood.  People are having trouble finding

         13  places for their family.  People who lived in the

         14  neighborhood for you know forever.  And have helped

         15  build it into the you know, more sustainable

         16  community that we have today.

         17                 The other portion of kind of relating

         18  back to the Hudson Yards plan, is it provided a

         19  fantastic kind of vehicle for the City, the

         20  Administration, the Council, and the community to

         21  work together to figure out an affordable housing

         22  plan.  I know that you were involved in the creation

         23  of the kind of Council's response to the Hudson

         24  Yards plan, as well as many of the other Council

         25  Members who are here in spirit this afternoon.  And
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          2  it was kind of a  --  over time, you know, as we

          3  developed a way of working together, it became a

          4  very open and accessible process. And I know that we

          5  in the community kind of appreciated the access we

          6  had to our Council Member Quinn, Speaker Quinn, as

          7  well as the other Council Members.  So I wanted to

          8  say we look forward to continuing to work with the

          9  Speaker's Office, with the Land Use staff, and of

         10  course, it helped I think all of us that other

         11  Council Members made an explicit priority in the

         12  Hudson Yards plan to have affordable housing, and I

         13  hope we'll be able to repeat that success this time

         14  around.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you Mr.

         16  Raskin.

         17                 Good thing there aren't too many

         18  cameras rolling. Jonathan Bowels please.  Jonathan

         19  Bowels, from the Center for Urban Future.  If not,

         20  we'll move to  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Kathleen Treat.  Is

         22  she here?  She can come forward.

         23                 MS. TREAT: I am Kathleen Treat, Chair

         24  of the Hell's Kitchen Neighborhood Association.  And

         25  we would like to go on record first as thanking our
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          2  Council Member, Speaker Chris Quinn, for the

          3  exceptionally hard work she's put in, as well as her

          4  staff, on the zoning and recent plan for the Hudson

          5  Yards.

          6                 New York, which once welcomed workers

          7  of all stripes, has been transforming into a Banana

          8  Republic, a capital city of the very rich and the

          9  very poor, for the past 50 years. This is not a new

         10  issue.  Every time the Ladies Garment Workers housed

         11  in Penn South, occasionally opens its list for say

         12  four or five hundred available apartments, they

         13  receive thousands of applicants from New Yorkers

         14  looking for affordable housing.

         15                 The tremors of fear attendant on the

         16  sale of Peter Cooper Village and Stuyvesant Town

         17  make a very powerful wakeup call for this need.  The

         18  entire City needs affordable housing, not just the

         19  West Side.  Pardon me.

         20                 The Hudson Yards offers the City a

         21  golden opportunity to create state- of- the- art

         22  middle class housing.  And not just a measly 10 of

         23  20 percent.  But we need lots and lots of middle

         24  class housing.  If you'd like a model, look no

         25  further than the miracle on 42nd Street, Manhattan
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          2  Plaza.

          3                 I urge everyone here and those here

          4  in spirit to take a tour of Manhattan Plaza, which I

          5  think is the urban ideal. With intelligent planning,

          6  you have the chance to do something for the

          7  teachers, the nurses, civil servants, the plumbers,

          8  the playwrights and poets that make our City the

          9  great metropolis it is.            Seize the day.

         10  We rely on your leadership. And thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you very

         12  much Ms. Treat. And our last witness for today is

         13  Christine Berthet.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is there anybody

         15  else that would like to speak that hasn't signed up?

         16

         17                 MS. BERTHET: Thank you so much.  My

         18  name is Christine Berthet.  I'm the co- founder of

         19  CHEKPEDS, a pedestrian safety advocacy in the Hell's

         20  Kitchen neighborhood.  With business as well as

         21  residents.  And co- chair of HKNA Transportation

         22  Committee.

         23                 First, thank you to Ms. Quinn, and to

         24  yourself, Mr. Liu, to work with us on our

         25  transportation issues.
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          2                 One year ago or so, the City voted to

          3  add 40 million square feet of density in the Hudson

          4  Yards.  And there was quite an opposition from the

          5  neighborhood about such a high density.  This

          6  included 28 million of commercial space.  And many

          7  experts at the time, and yourself, just today,

          8  questioned the need for so much commercial space,

          9  and argued that it would undermine the development

         10  of Ground Zero.

         11                 The new plans for the move of Madison

         12  Square Garden will add four million square feet of

         13  commercial capacity.  And now, with this proposal,

         14  we are going to reach 54 million square feet in that

         15  area.  The real estate market is softening.  And

         16  Ground Zero is far from rebuilt. So it's

         17  questionable whether this Rail Yards addition appear

         18  a little premature.

         19                 If it must go forward though, I will

         20  second the point which have been made earlier, and

         21  urge the City Council to limit the overall

         22  commercial density to existing 28 million, and shift

         23  the majority of that to the 11th Avenue Rail Yard,

         24  and the east/west commercial corridor.

         25                 We are very encouraged that any
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          2  development of the Rail Yard will be subject to the

          3  ULURP process.  Obviously, the Rail Yards are part

          4  of Hudson Yards, and we expect this EIS to revisit

          5  the complete area, since the density is going to be

          6  so much higher, increased by 35 percent, and the

          7  land use is going to be so different from the

          8  original assumptions.

          9                 Where now this Number Seven Line will

         10  only one stop, and the traffic impact of a 35

         11  percent increase in commercial density is going to

         12  be massive.  And far reaching on a neighborhood

         13  which is already choked with the Lincoln Tunnel, the

         14  Port Authority, and two truck routes, one on 34th

         15  Street, one on 42nd Street.  UPS, FedEx, and postal

         16  service, and the expanded Javits Center traffic.

         17                 So these are very, very big concern

         18  and the EIS of the first Hudson Yards was very short

         19  in advising all the impact. I can't resist

         20  commenting ad lib on some of the comments I heard

         21  from Mr. Doctoroff.  We heard the $200 million is

         22  going to be really have a return on investment of

         23  just $200 million, but Mr. Liu yourself, you said

         24  that money before the subway and after the subway

         25  should have a very different value.  I think the
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          2  $200 million we are paying for that space should

          3  return way more than $200 million when we sell it to

          4  developers later on. When the subway would be built.

          5    So that doesn't compute.

          6                 The lower PILOTs on the West have

          7  been addressed by different people, and I think they

          8  don't need that because the subway is going to

          9  really prove the value of that western block.

         10                 And finally, in all the calculation

         11  of the 17 percent on investment, there is no mention

         12  of the additional operating expense of this new

         13  neighborhood.  Today, as you have heard, we do not

         14  have enough traffic cops.  We don't have enough

         15  cops.  The precincts are stretched to the limit.

         16  And this is with no additional square feet.  We

         17  don't have enough schools.  We don't have enough

         18  transportation, we don't have the new bus line on

         19  the 11th Avenue.  We don't have any bus line

         20  anywhere.  So when you are hearing about all this

         21  PILOTs, how much of that is going to help the City

         22  budget finance the you know, the operational expense

         23  of this new neighborhood?  Which we already  --  is

         24  already short of the budget.  So that 17 percent

         25  return on investment is not, because it doesn't
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          2  include the operational expense that the City will

          3  be supporting.

          4                 Thank you for staying with us that

          5  long.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  And

          7  thank everyone else remaining here, for bearing with

          8  us as this hearing has gone for a few hours now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  On behalf

         10  of the Finance Committee, I want to thank you all

         11  for coming.  And the Finance Committee portion of

         12  this hearing is now adjourned.  And as a Member of

         13  the Economic Development Committee, Chair White has

         14  authorized me to adjourn the Economic Development

         15  portion of the hearing as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Why don't you

         17  adjourn the Transportation portion also?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And with

         19  Chairman Liu's permission, the Transportation

         20  portion is also adjourned.

         21                 (The following written testimony was

         22  submitted for the record.)

         23

         24                 Written testimony of:

         25                 Claudia Preparata, Research Director,
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          2  TWU Local 100

          3                 My name is Claudia Preparata. I am

          4  Research Director for TWU Local 100. While we are

          5  relieved the MTA backed away from selling its West

          6  Side properties to the City at bargain basement

          7  prices, I am here today to convey the Union's

          8  concern over the newly- negotiated arrangement

          9  between the City and the MTA for West Side

         10  development.

         11                 Local 100 proceeds from two general

         12  principles:

         13                 1. We support sustainable economic

         14  development. We want to see development plans that

         15  translate into good- paying construction jobs in the

         16  near term, good paying jobs in other sectors as we

         17  go along and sustained support for public service.

         18                 2. We support financial arrangements

         19  that are favorable to the development of our mass

         20  transit system, which is the engine of the local

         21  economy. This means we are wary of plans that

         22  harness the MTA with additional obligations without

         23  providing adequate means of funding those

         24  obligations.

         25                 The current iteration of development
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          2  on the West Side is a decisive improvement from past

          3  plans in that it opens the door to land uses that

          4  may prove economically more robust and it opens the

          5  door to a sales price that may prove more reasonable

          6  than the $500 million the Mayor offered to pay for

          7  prime waterfront property.

          8                 This, however, leaves much of the

          9  particulars open to question. Foremost among these,

         10  to our point of view, is whether the funding plan

         11  for the #7 Line extension is adequate to prevent the

         12  MTA from being saddled with extensive costs.

         13                 The problem here is that large-

         14  scale, multi- year subway projects engender the

         15  possibility of substantial cost overruns. East Side

         16  Access, for example, is currently four years behind

         17  schedule and 2.4 billion over budget. Aside from

         18  possible cost overruns associated with land

         19  acquisition, no mechanism is being proposed to fund

         20  over- runs beyond $100 million, or five percent of

         21  the present estimate of costs. Five percent is not a

         22  big margin. Already, the project is%53 million more

         23  than the $2.1 billion the City has committed to pay.

         24                 While the MTA's track record of

         25  significant cost overruns and project delays rightly
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          2  deserves criticism, we believe the City should see

          3  through its commitment to fund the #7 Line over the

          4  life of the project. To this end, we advocate for a

          5  mechanism that would indemnify the MTA against

          6  legitimate unforeseen cost increases.

          7

          8                 Written testimony of:

          9                 Gary LaBarbera, Teamsters Joint

         10  Council 16

         11                 The Teamsters Joint Council 16, along

         12  with the 120,000 working men and women it

         13  represents, supports the refinancing of the Hudson

         14  Yards area and believes that development of Hudson

         15  Yards is the single best investment New York City

         16  can make to assure its economic future.

         17                 The recent agreement by Mayor

         18  Bloomberg, Governor Pataki and the M.T.A., supported

         19  by Speaker Quinn, should be commended on its'

         20  foresight in allowing all stakeholders to work in

         21  partnership to revitalize Hudson Yards- a 200 plus

         22  acre, 45 block area that is currently under-

         23  utilized and not economically productive. The Hudson

         24  Yards financing agreement is fair and equitable

         25  because it assures that the City will fund the No. 7
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          2  line 1.5 mile extension and the MTA will obtain the

          3  value from the rail yards, while respecting the

          4  City's need to plan for the district.

          5                 By providing public transportation,

          6  new parks and streets and other improvements we an

          7  unlock the area's great potential. The area can

          8  accommodate up to 24 million square feet of office

          9  space, 13,500 new residential units, including

         10  almost 4,000 affordable housing units, and one

         11  million square feet each of retail and hotel space.

         12  This new development potential will insure that

         13  Midtown has room to grow for decades to come.

         14                 Over the next 30 years this project

         15  has the potential to generate up to 217,000 annual

         16  construction jobs, and 225,000 new permanent jobs.

         17  Construction of the No. 7 subway expansion, new

         18  parks and streets, and expanded and renovated Javits

         19  Center, the High Line Park and Hudson River Park,

         20  Moynihan Station, and other projects in the area

         21  will provide thousands of high quality and well

         22  paying jobs.

         23                 This agreement also sets out a

         24  realistic framework and timetable for development of

         25  the rail yards to make sure that their potential is
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          2  realized. There is already a commitment that the

          3  Hudson Yards Development Corporation (HYDC), after

          4  working with the City Council and the community will

          5  issue within six months a statement of planning and

          6  design guidelines for the Western Rail Yards,

          7  located between 11th and 12th Avenues and between

          8  30th ad 33rd Streets. The guidelines will include

          9  specifics on key elements of development such as

         10  permissible uses and densities.

         11                 Teamsters Joint Council 16 supports

         12  the proposed amendments to the Council's

         13  authorization of the Hudson Yards finance plan

         14  because they are necessary to insure that the City

         15  can fund the No. 7 subway and other investments in

         16  the district. In particular, these amendments will

         17  insure that future development of the rail yards

         18  produces tax revenues to help support the project.

         19                 Thank you for your time and

         20  consideration.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 2:00 p.m.)
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